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Chairman’s Message 2013

In the name of Allah, the most Gracious, the most Merciful.

Say, “Indeed, my Lord extends provision for whom He wills and restricts [it], but most of the people 
do not know.”

“And it is not your wealth or your children that bring you nearer to Us in position, but it is [by being] 
one who has believed and done righteousness. For them there will be the double reward for what they 
did, and they will be in the upper chambers [of Paradise], safe [and secure].”

Surat Saba’ 36-37

Praise be to Allah, and may peace be upon our Prophet, his family and companions.

Dear shareholders,

Greetings and may peace be upon you.

On behalf of myself and my brothers & sisters in the Board of Directors, it is my pleasure to present to you the 
Annual Report of Kuwait International Bank for the year ending December 31st 2013, describing the Bank’s 
achievements and developments during this period.

Economic developments on local, regional and global levels witnessed a relative improvement compared to the 
previous year. Despite these improvements, challenges within the operating environment of the local banking 
sector persist due to a number of factors, namely: increased competition among banks in a market characterized 
by limited investment opportunities, the absence of catalysts required to activate the private sector in a local 
economy heavily dominated by the public sector, and the slow implementation of developmental plans.
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Achievements of KIB’s Strategy Implementation

Despite these circumstances and challenges, KIB 
continued to achieve the objectives of its 2011-
2013 strategy, which included increasing long-term 
shareholder value under a low-risk framework, 
developing employees’ capabilities and priming 
them to achieve future goals, as well as following 
our business model towards sustainable growth 
rates which are both acceptable and safe, and 
implementing corporate governance regulations in 
accordance with the Central Bank of Kuwait.

In light of these objectives, KIB was able to implement 
a restructuring plan which is clearly reflected in the 
financial results for the year 2013, while diversifying 
the Bank’s income sources and broadening its 
customer base. KIB made investments in new 
sectors related to Construction & Building Materials, 
Oil & Gas, Energy, Trade and Infrastructure Works 
while catering to Small & Medium Enterprises 
(SME’s) through specialized banking services.

Additionally, KIB embarked on expanding its 
branch and off site ATM networks, of which there 
are now 26 KIB branches reaching customers in all 
governorates of Kuwait.

We made new strides with our retail customers by 
diversifying our products & services and strategically 
targeting new segments. Through this mechanism, 
KIB was able to enhance its ability to fully meet 
retail customers’ needs, reduce financing costs and 
maximize income of liquid assets.

Further to the above, KIB completed restructuring 
efforts, reactivated existing departments including 
the Bank’s Investment Department, restructured 
our investment portfolio to enhance income and 
reduce risk, introduced new investment products 
to customers, optimized the handling processes 
related to seized collateral and divested from assets 
which were deemed incompatible with Islamic 
Shariah. Additionally, KIB succeeded in activating 
the role of its International Banking Department.

Corporate Governance, Transparency & Disclosure, 
FATCA, Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorism Financing

Within the framework of supporting global efforts 

to bring to action the best corporate governance 
practices, KIB employed external consultants to 
assist in implementing all regulations specified by 
the Central Bank of Kuwait for Kuwaiti banks.

During 2013, KIB introduced new corporate 
governance practices in accordance with the Central 
Bank’s requirements by organizing workshops and 
courses for the Board of Directors and employees. 
We established a Corporate Governance Task Force 
with the core mission of ensuring implementation 
of the corporate governance regulations, and a 
Disclosure & Transparency Task Force with the aim 
of ensuring those functions meet all criteria within 
the Bank.

In the context of keeping pace with the requirements 
of tax cooperation with the United States (FATCA), 
KIB was among the first banks to implement 
these requirements, and has modified its internal 
procedures to ensure full compliance.

KIB is also keen on combating money laundering 
and terrorism financing in accordance with Kuwaiti 
Law No. 106/2013 and CBK’s regulations, the latter 
of which KIB has been in compliance with since 
18/08/2013. It is important to point out that KIB has 
played a large role in providing training courses and 
workshops for members of the Board of Directors, 
where in 2013, in cooperation with local and regional 
consulting firms, the Bank addressed several 
issues related to local, regional and global aspects 
of corporate governance, FATCA, Anti-Money 
Laundering and Counter-Terrorism Financing, and 
the important role of risk departments as per the 
best global practices. 

I would also like to mention that plans exist to 
continue these training courses for Board Members, 
managers and employees.

Fitch Rating Upgraded From A- to A+

Based on the achievements accumulated by KIB 
during 2013, the Bank has been awarded with a 
new credit rating by Fitch Ratings Inc., one of the 
world’s premier agencies, of A+ from A-. The rating 
measures the probability of default on behalf of the 
Bank in the long-term, while keeping the outlook 
stable.
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Fitch also raised KIB’s short-term credit rating from F2 to F1, confirming that the Bank has a strong capacity to meet 
its financial commitments within a 12-month period. Finally, KIB received a B+ rating following the financial feasibility 
study confirming the Bank’s solid financial position, the strength of its assets and its achievements thus far.

Tangible achievements on several fronts enhanced the Bank’s operations and financial results along with its 
operating environment, future indicators, technical and human development across all departments, and 
its commitment to global standards of corporate governance & transparency each which played a role in 
advancing KIB’s Fitch ratings and should be considered a sign that KIB has achieved its strategic objectives.

Financial Results for Kuwait International Bank

In 2013, KIB achieved a Pre-Provision Operating Profit of approximately KD 32.2 million, compared to KD 21.8 
million in 2012, representing an increase of approximately 48%. Operating Revenues amounted to approximately 
KD 56.95 million compared to KD 44.91 million in 2012, representing an increase of approximately 27%. Thus, 
KIB’s Net Profit for 2013 amounted to KD 13.22 million, compared to KD 13.17 million in 2012. The total 
revenue resulting from third-party financing in 2013 was equivalent to KD 12.79 million compared to KD 9.5 
million in 2012, representing an increase of approximately 35%. Fee & commission income increased by 23%, 
investment revenues increased by 42% and net financing operations increased by approximately 25%. 

Return on Equity (ROE) was approximately 5.96% and Earnings Per Share (EPS) approximately 14.15 fils.  The 
Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of KIB reached 25.24%, which is well above the minimum requirement of 12%.

In 2013, KIB succeeded in achieving tangible results in reducing the level of risk in its assets through the 
exceptional work of its Risk Management Department. Our efforts dramatically reduced the percentage of 
Risky Assets from 6.7% in 2012 to 5.5% in 2013.

The high growth rates achieved by the Bank are reflected in other key indicators. KIB saw a large growth in 
deposits, with a Deposit Rate of 20% in addition to a 25% rise in financing in all sectors. The Loans-to-Total-
Assets ratio amounted to approximately 65%, Investment-to-Total-Assets measured at approximately 7%, and 
Total Assets grew by 20% between 2012 and 2013. 

KIB’s performance indicators of 2013 are not only positive, but they are consistent with the policies, procedures 
and actions taken by the bank during this period.

Dividends

Valued shareholders, the Board of Directors at KIB’s Ordinary General Assembly has opted to recommend 
a cash dividend distribution of 7% per share, or 7 fils per share to shareholders appearing on the Bank’s 
shareholder register on the date of the Ordinary General Assembly. These recommendations are subject to the 
approval of the Ordinary General Assembly of the Bank and the competent authorities. 

May Allah guide us for the benefit of our customers and our beloved nation of Kuwait. May the future of KIB 
witness further prosperity under the patronage of H.H. Sheikh Sabah Al-Ahmed Al-Jaber Al-Sabah, the Amir 
of Kuwait and H.H. Sheikh Nawaf Al-Ahmed Al-Jaber Al-Sabah, Crown Prince of Kuwait.

May Allah grant us peace, mercy and blessings.

Sheikh Mohammed Jarrah Al-Sabah
Chairman of Kuwait International Bank



 Board
of Directors
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Board of Directors

Sheikh Mohammed Jarrah Al-Sabah
Chairman

Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen
Vice Chairman
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Mrs. Najat Hamad Al-Suwaidi
Board Member

Dr. Haider Hassan Al-Jummaa
Board Member

Mr. Raed Jawad 
Bukhamseen
Board Member

Mr. Jassem Hassan Zinal
Board Member

Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad 
Marafie
Board Member

Mr. Ahmed Ibrahim Al Asfour
Board Member

Mr. Abdul Wahab Mousa 
Albdul Razzaq
Board Member
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Board of Director Committees Members 

Board Finance & Investment 

Committee

Sheikh Mohammed Jarrah Al-Sabah

Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen

Mr. Raed Jawad Bukhamseen

Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafie

Mrs. Najat Hamad Al-Suwaidi

Board Risk Management Committee 

(BRMC)

Mr. Jassem Hassan Zainal

Mr. Ahmed Ibrahim Abdul Rahman Al Asfour

Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafie

Mrs. Najat Hamad Al-Suwaidi

Board Auditing Committee

Dr. Haider Hassan Al-Jummaa

Mr. Jassem Hassan Zainal
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Committee

Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen
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Committee

Sheikh Mohammed Jarrah Al-Sabah

Mr. Jassem Hassan Zainal

Mr. Raed Jawad Bukhamseen
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Executive Management

Loai Maqamis
Chief Executive Officer

Abdul Rahim Al Awadhi
GM – Corporate Support Department

Thunayan Al Ghanim
GM – Treasury & Investment Department

Dr. Nasreen Hassan Al Qaseer
GM – Risk Management Department

Massoud Mikhael Antoun
GM – International Banking Department

Zahid Ismael Kasmani
Acting GM – Finance & Planning Department

Lamya Al-Tabtebai
Deputy GM – Corporate Support Department

Mr. Murad Mikhail
Advisor to the Board of Directors

Fakhar El Dein Ismail
General Internal Auditor

Dr. Sadeq Jaafar Abul
Executive Manager – Board of Directors Affairs Management Department

Jassim Abdullah Al-Abdulhadi
Executive Manager – Commercial Banking Department

Essam Abdul Hameed Abouelfadl
Executive Manager – Legal Affairs Department

Matar Mohammed Alshammari
Acting GM – Retail Banking Department

Majdi  Yahya Ghannam*
Executive Manager – Human Resources Department

*Joined KIB in 2014
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Committee Member

Dr. Abdulaziz Khalifa Al-Qassar

Member and Rapporteur of Shariah Committee

Members of the Fatwa & Supervisory Board
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Summary of the Fatwa and Shariah Supervisory Board Address

Praise be to Almighty Allah, and Peace and Blessings upon Prophet Mohammad, his Blessed Family, 
Companions and Followers until the Day of Judgment.

Islamic banking has provided an excellent model of services, finance and investment. It successfully introduced 
fundamentals and systems for financial transactions that do not rely on performing conventional financial bro-
kerage functions. Islamic banking considers commodities as strategic elements in all financing modules. These 
include Murabaha banking for applicants placing a purchase order (by installments), Ijarah (i.e. Lease leading 
to ownership), Tawarroq (i.e. Securitization), Salam for future commodities, Istisna’a or other contracts. All of 
these transactions and many more are executed on the basis of Islamic speculation contracts (Mudaraba), 
investment wakalah, Musharaka (i.e. Partnership), and other forms of profiting. New investment tools such as 
Islamic investment funds and Sukuk, etc are also introduced.

Islamic banking has introduced a distinctive economic model that is different from conventional banking both 
in form and content. Islamic investment associates with real economy; where financial and monetary progress 
parallel to economic activity of real assets and services that meet legitimate and realistic needs of society. 

Promoting and developing Islamic banking is a duty ad hoc of Islamic banks which requires united efforts of 
specialist departments in various Islamic financial institutions. These endeavors will contribute to properly de-
veloping and implementing investment and finance operations and services in compliance with Islamic stand-
ards approved at Islamic financial institutions. 

At KIB, we stand verily inspired by the grace of Almighty Allah that Islamic banking will achieve target levels for 
the benefit of Kuwaiti society, the world at large, and the humanity so that we may all enjoy the blessed guid-
ance of Allah. Allah says in the Holy Quran: ”Whoever works righteousness, whether male or female, while 
he (or she) is a true believer verily, to him We will give a good life, and We shall pay them certainly a 
reward in proportion to the best of what they used to do.” Surat An- Nahl, Verse (97).

        Dr. Abdulaziz Khalifa Al-Qassar

Member and Rapporteur of Shariah Committee
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Sheikh Dr. Khaled Mathkour Al-Mathkour           Sheikh Moustafa Hassan Al-Zalzalah   

           Chairman of Shariah Board              Vice Chairman    

                                       
     Dr. Abdulaziz Al-Khalifa Al-Qassar                Sheikh Ali Mohamded Hejji Al-Jady            
              Member & Rapporteur                                            Member

 Report of  the Fatwa and Shariah Supervisory Board

 To: KIB Shareholders 

 Dear sirs, 

 In accordance with the General Assembly resolution appointing the Fatwa and Islamic Shariah Supervisory 
Board for KIB and as we were assigned to act in such capacity, we hereby provide you with the following 
report: 

 We at the Fatwa and Shariah Supervision Board, KIB, have supervised and reviewed the principles used and the 
contracts related to the transactions concluded by the bank during the period from 1/1/2013 to 31/12/2013. 
We have carried out the necessary supervision to provide our opinion on whether the bank complied with the 
Islamic Shariah laws and principles and with the Fatwa, decisions, resolutions and guidelines made by us. 

 Our supervision included examining the contracts and procedures used by the bank on the basis of examining 
each type of operation. We have also collected all necessary information and clarifications to provide our 
opinion on whether the bank’s business is in full conformity with Islamic Shariah provisions. 

 In our opinion, the contracts, operations and transactions concluded or used by the bank during the period 
from 1/1/2013 to 31/12/2013 and which have been reviewed by us, were in compliance with the Islamic 
Shariah laws. 

 The Bank shall draw the attention of its shareholders to the fact that the bank does not pay Zakat on behalf of 
the shareholders. 

 We wish the bank all success and prosperity in serving our religion and our country. 

 May Allah’s peace, mercy and blessings be upon you.  



Summary of
 Economic & Financial
Developments in the
 State of Kuwait - 2013
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In 2013, the local economy achieved a growth rate of 3% in non-oil GDP and 2.6% in real GDP. Some 
positive developments have contributed to this growth, including; a rise in local consumption mainly attributed 
to increased wages in the Government sector in 2012, the rise in the Government capital expenditure, the 
continuity of relatively high oil prices which averaged above $US 100 per barrel during 2013 in addition to 
the rise in Kuwaiti oil production hitting 3 million bpd at the end of the same year. The positive relationship 
between the Government and Parliament along with the rise in the expenditure on capital and infrastructure 
projects as part of the enforcement of of the 2012/2014 development plan raised expectations for continued 
government expenditure during the 2013/2014 fiscal years. The expenditure rate within this plan is estimated to 
reach approximately 47% throughout the next fiscal year. These factors contributed to a relative improvement 
in the operational environment of the local banks, although it remained below the desired level. The local 
economy is still suffering from structural imbalances, requiring further treatment through the activation of the 
private sector role in the local economy and the treatment of imbalances of the national workforce which 
is highly concentrated in the public sector. On the other hand, foreign labor occupies 94% of the private 
sector workforce. The State strives to reduce dependence on oil revenue by identifying other income sources. 
Large government expenditure on salaries and wages along with subsidized prices of electricity, water and 
fuel, which cost approximately 6% of the total GDP present budgetary concerns which the State is tasked 
with rationalizing. In this context, we can highlight that the key features of the Kuwaiti economy remained 
unchanged as oil represents 95% of Kuwaiti exports in contrast to other GCC nations whose economies saw 
significant diversification in their income sources and relatively vibrant private sectors.

First: Public Finance

According to the monthly follow-up statements 
provided by the Ministry of Finance, the general 
budget of The State of Kuwait during the first nine 
months (through December 2013) for the fiscal year 
2013/2014 shows fiscal revenues of KD 23.9 billion 
out of which KD 22.1 billion are oil revenues. In this 
regard, we point out that the actual rate of collection 
of the budget estimates for the same period was 
176.7% while the percentage of collection of oil 
revenues of the budget estimates for the same 
period was 175.3%. The increase in the above-
mentioned collected revenues reflects the increase 
in the oil revenues as the crude oil barrel price 
exceeded the figures estimated in the current general 
budget (70 USD per barrel). Non-oil revenues also 
reported a rise compared to the estimated figures as 
the percentage of collection of non-oil figures was 
147.4% of the budget’s projections.

The actual expenditures within the general budget 
of the State during the first nine months of the 
2013/2014 fiscal year reached KD 9.6 billion.
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Fiscal year  Total revenues  Oil revenues Share of oil revenues (%)

2007/2008 19022.6 17719.5 93.20 %

2008/2009 21005.8 19710.7 93.80 %

2009/2010 17687.9 16584.9 93.80 %

2010/2011 21502 19947.4 92.80 %

2011/2012 13445.3 12307.1 91.90 %

2012/2013 13932.4 12768.2 91.60 %

Percentage Contribution of Oil Revenue to Total Public Revenues

Source: Ministry of Finance: Statement of the Minister of Finance on the economic, monetary and fiscal situation and the draft budget for 
the year 2012/2013
 

As a result, the general budget reported a surplus 
of KD 14.3 billion for this period. After discounting 
25% of the total income as provisions for the Future 
Generations Fund, the surplus will reach KD 8.4 
billion for the actual nine months of the fiscal year 
of the budget. Assuming that the oil prices and the 
Kuwaiti production will continue their current trends 
during the remaining three months of the said fiscal 
year (January, February and March 2014), the 
expected surplus may exceed KD 12 billion for this 
period.        

Second: Monetary Developments

The broad money supply (M2) rose at the end of 
2013 by KD 2,844.1 million at 9.5% to reach KD 
32,732.3 million compared to approximately KD 
29,888.1 million at the end of 2012. This rise in quasi 
money of KD 977.2 million is the result of increases 
in private sector term deposits at local banks of KD 
686.5 million as well as the rise in saving deposits by 
KD 330.9 million.
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 Year  Quasi Money  Money (M1)  Money Supply (M2) Broader  Money Supply (M3)

2006 12370.3 3550.3 15920.6 15946.7

2007 14813.2 4146.7 18959.9 18986

2008 17579.9 4531.7 22111.6 22168.4

2009 20181.8 4882.1 25063.9 25087.5

2010 20027 5316 25343 25371.6

2011 21381.3 6551.9 27933.1 27947.2

2012 22014.9 7873.3 29888.1 29916.2

2013 23881.8 8850.5 32732.3 32788.8

Source: Central Bank of Kuwait, Monthly Statistics Newsletter, December 2013

Moreover, data made available by the Central Bank of Kuwait regarding government and private sector 
deposits show a rise in total deposits of the private sector locally estimated in KD and in foreign currency to KD 
31,251.1 million at the end of 2013, compared to approximately KD 28,548.12 million at the end of 2012. This 
represents an increase of approximately KD 2,702.9 million or 9.4%. The increase in private sector deposits in 
KD amounted to KD 1,853.4 million as they rose to KD 28,129.4 million at the end of 2013, as compared to 
KD 26,276 million at the end of 2012, with a growth rate of 7%. This growth in deposits of the private sector in 
KD is a result of the growth in sight deposits by KD 836 million, the time deposits by KD 686.5 million and the 
saving deposits by KD 330.9 million. It is noted that the size of sight deposits has grown significantly. These 
are that the private sector deposits issued in KD for which the banks do not pay interest and they are related 
to the clients' activity. Furthermore, time deposits have grown by 4.4% compared to the previous year while 
government deposits grew to reach KD 5,056.7 million as compared to KD 4,955.4 million in 2012, with a 
growth of 2%. The total balance of government and private deposits at the end of 2013 reached KD 36,307.7 
million as compared to KD 33,503.6 million at the end of 2012 with a rise of KD 2,804.1 million, representing 
8.3%. The problem of employing the Kuwaiti banking sector’s liquidity is related to government expenditure 

Developments in the money supply in Kuwait (2006 to 2013) in KD millions

on projects, which are considered the key driver of 
the Kuwaiti economy and a major milestone for the 
progress of the private sector. Due to the narrow 
investment channels and limited opportunities in 
the Kuwaiti economy, which are primarily limited to 
the real estate and stock market sectors, there are 
few other fields which attract savings in the form of 
deposit and investment accounts.

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

40000

35000

30000

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Private Sector Deposits Government Deposits Total Deposits

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

 

Private Sector Deposits Government Deposits Total Deposits

Public & Private Deposits 2008 - 2013



23

Fourth: Kuwait Stock Exchange

During 2013, Kuwait Stock Exchange Market saw a 
rise in its price index by 21.3% as the index achieved 
7,549.5 points at the end of 2013 as compared to 
5,934.3 points in 2012, with an increase of 1,615.2 
points compared to the last closing. The number of 
traded shares reached 129,921 million compared 
to 82,805.7 million shares, amounting to KD 11,389 
million as compared to KD 7,215.9 million divided in 
2,252,744 transactions as compared to 1,204,934 
transactions, with an increase of 57% and 46% 
respectively. The rate of daily accumulation was 
525,997,325 shares with an average of KD 46,111,009 
at an average of 9,120 transactions.

As for the relative importance of the value of traded 
shares according to the different market sectors, 
the financial services sector ranked first with 30.2%, 
followed by the real estate sector with 26.85%, the 
industrial sector with 12%, the banking sector with 
17.5% and the oil and gas sector with 3.21%. It is 
worth mentinong that the weight index reached 452.86 
points at the end of 2013 with a growth of approximately 
35.21 as compared to the previous period.

At the banking credits level, the balances of the money parts used in the credit facilities from the local banks 
to the various economic sectors (See Chart No. 6) grew during 2013 by approximately KD 28,960.9 million at 
8%. This represents a two-fold increase from the 4.6% growth rate seen between 2011 and 2012. The rise in 
2013 is mainly attributed to the growth of installments loans by KD 995 million with an increase of 16.4%, and 
real estate loans by KD 486.4 million. With a growth rate of 6.8%, consumer loans rose to KD 122.4 million 
with an increase of 11.8% as compared to 2012.

Third: Consumer Price Indices

The data made available by the Central Statistic 
Bureau show that the inflation rate reflected by 
the Consumer Price Index grew by 2.66% during 
December 2013 as compared to December 2012, 
as the record figure of consumer price reached 
131.4 points in December 2013 as compared to 
128 points in the same period of the last year. Most 
record figures of the consumer price grew as shown 
in Chart No. 7.
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 Fifth: Kuwaiti Real Estate Market Overview 2013

 This report analyzes the activity of the Kuwaiti real estate market with all its components during 2013 as compared 
to 2012 while highlighting the key developments in market activity in 2013 in detail (quarterly performance). At the 
end of the report, it presents some projections and estimates for 2014.

1: Key developments in the real estate market in 2013:

 In 2013, the Kuwaiti real estate market achieved a new record in the total value of properties and lands traded in 
2013, as the value of traded properties and lands reached KD 3.9 billion in 2013 compared to KD 3.3 billion in 2012 
with an increase of 19%, representing the highest trading value of the market since 2008. At the level of number 
of transactions, this went down to 8,642 transactions in 2013 as compared to 9,999 transactions in 2012 with a 
decrease of 13.5% according to the Ministry of Justice, Department of Real Estate Registration and Authentication. 
The detailed information stated in the table (1) indicates that the market activity in 2013 was mainly attributed to the 
increase in the value of traded properties in the commercial and investment sectors at 66% and 27.9% respectively, 
while the traded value of the residential sectors increased by 4.85% only. These changes clearly show that the rates 
of the residential sector have reached exaggerated limits and will recess gradually to their normal levels especially 
that the residential sector, in view of the current resolutions and laws, cannot be an ongoing and income generating 
investment haven, as its movement is restricted by the demand by housing seekers and its rates are affected with 
the speculation unlike the commercial and investment sectors which constitute an attractive element to the investors 
and are affected by several factors related to the local economy, the movement of expatriates and the activity of the 
local market.

 In this context, we can clearly point out the relative importance of the increase in the total value of market trading in 
2013 which reached KD 634.7 million approximately in which the trading value of the investment sector accounted 
for KD 332.8 million approximately noting that more than the half of such increase was due to the high values of 
properties traded in the investment sector which stood at 52.4% followed by the value of trading in the commercial 
sector accounting with KD 175.2 million with a percentage of 27.6% followed in the last place by the value of the 
residential sector trading which accounted for KD 90.7 million representing only 14.2%, this data clearly shows the 
change of market trends in 2013 towards the commercial and investment sectors rather than the residential sector.

 Table (1): Value of properties and land transactions traded from 2008 to 2013

 The data related to the number of transactions concluded in 2013 shows a remarkable decrease in the number of 
transactions traded in the residential sector registering 6,596 transactions in 2013 compared to 8,247 transactions 
in 2012 with significant decrease of 25%. This is set to be the first decrease in the number of transactions traded 
in the residential sector since 2010. This may reveal the start that the market would see in the residential sector. 
The down-trending demand of the residential sector components may continue and its prices may recess in 2014 
should the Government adopt serious actions for the implementation of its housing plan and distribute the state 
plots and houses as per the planned dates. At the level of other sectors, the situation was better as the number of 
concluded transactions in the investment and commercial sectors rose by 11% and 102.5% respectively keeping 
the same ascending trend of the transactions traded in both sectors.

Year  Residential  Investment  Commercial  Industrial  Warehouse  Coastline  Crafts Exhibitions  Total

2008 1111.9 1104.3 527.6 31.2 14.7 0 0 0 2789.7

2009 821 710.9 337.6 18.8 8.1 0 0 0 1896.4

 Change (%) -26 % -35 % -36 % -39 % -44 % 0 0 0 - 32 %

2010 1261.2 750.6 252.8 4.4 22.9 11.3 0 0 2303.2

 Change (%) 53 % 5.6 % -25 % -76 % 182 % 113 % 0 0 21%

2011 1560 1069.5 247.8 0 11.8 7.1 0 0 2896.2

 Change (%) 23 % 42 % -1.9 % -100 % -48 % -37 % 0 0 25

2012 1852.8 1189.1 265.3 0 23.7 9.7 5.5 3.4 3349.5

 Change (%) 18 % 11 % 7 % 0 100 % 36 % 100 % 100 % 15 %

2013 1943.5 1521.9 440.5 0 30.2 11.7 31.4 5 3984.2

 Change (%) 4.8 % 27.9 % 66 % 0 27 % 20 % 470 % 47 % 18.9 %

 Increase (in millions) 90.7 332.8 175.2 6.5 2 25.9 1.6 634.7

 Relative importance 
of the increase 14.2% 52.4% 27.6% 0% 0.01% 0.0031% 0.4 % 0.002% 100
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 Table (2): Number of properties and land transactions traded from 2008 to 2013

 The chart (3) shows the development of the activity of the residential sector from 2008 to 2013.

Year  Residential  Investment  Commercial  Industrial  Warehouse  Coastline  Crafts Exhibitions  Total

2008 5317 1935 196 5 19 0 0 0 7472

2009 3768 1326 112 2 9 0 0 0 5217

2010 5614 1664 84 9 30 4 0 0 7405

2011 6560 1531 78 0 11 6 0 1 8187

2012 8247 1635 78 0 26 4 8 1 9999

2013 6596 1815 158 0 15 4 52 2 8,642

 Relative change (%) -25 % 11 % 102.5 % 0 % 14 % 0 % 550 % 100 % -13.5 %

 Chart (1): Value and number of real estate transactions from 2008 to 2013
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 Chart (2): Proportional distribution of the value of traded properties during 2013 type-wise
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 At the level of investment sector, the value of sales of this sector reached about KD 1.5 billion in 2013 distributed in 
1,815 transactions as compared to KD 1.1 billion distributed in 1635 transactions with a rise of 27.9% and 11% in 
value and number of transactions respectively. This reflects that the average price per transaction in the investment 
sector in 2013 was KD 838.5 thousand as compared to KD 727.2 thousand in 2012.

 As for the commercial sector, this sector achieved new levels in terms of the value and number of transactions 
in 2013; as the value of transactions reached KD 440.5 million distributed in 158 transactions as compared to 
KD 265.3 million distributed to 78 transactions in 2012 with a rise of 66% and 102% in the value and number of 
transactions respectively recording the highest figures since 2008.

2. Performance of the Kuwaiti real estate sector during Q4 of 2013

 The available data shows the stability of the real estate market activities during the fourth quarter of 2013 as the 
value of transactions reached about KD 1080.2 million compared to KD 1047.4 million in the Q3 of 2013, registering 
a limited rise in the value of transactions of 3.1% only. As for the number of transactions, this went down to record 
2,052 transactions in the Q4 of 2013 compared to 2,284 transactions in the third quarter of the same year with 
a decrease of 10.1%. The recession in the total activity of the market is mainly attributed to the recession of the 
traded value and the transactions of the residential sector. During the Q4 of 2013, the residential sector has seen 
a recession in the value and number of transactions at 5.3% and 12.7% respectively as compared to the Q3 of 
2013. Activity within the residential sector was affected by renewed concern for the housing issue expressed by 
National Assembly members and the Government. The suggested housing plan for the coming years involves 
the establishment of shareholding companies for the purpose of carrying out residential city plans and ensuring 
compliance with the schedule for the construction and distribution of residential units presented by the Government 
to the National Assembly in Q1. It also involves the enforcement of the resolution on plot distribution on the map 
upon its completion. This comes in addition to compliance of the Government with prior controls and the reduction 
of document turnaround related to residential projects which are to be completed within one month. It is expected 
that once this plan will come into effect, residential plot prices will be significantly impacted.

 Chart (4): Value and number of real estate transactions in the investment sector from 2008 to 2013

 Chart (5): Value and number of real estate transactions in the commercial sector from 2008 to 2013
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 Table (4): Value of the properties and lands traded from Q1 2011 to Q4 2013 

Quarter  Residential  Investment  Commercial  Warehouse  Coastal  Crafts  Exhibitions  Total

Q1 2011 395.5 281.0 36.8 1.9 6.4 0 0 721.6

Q2 2011 557.4 374.3 98.9 1 0.4 0 0 1032

Q3 2011 253.6 232.4 50.5 3.1 0.3 0 0 539.9

Q4 2011 353.5 181.8 61.6 5.8 0 0 0 602.7

Q1 2012 504.3 326.2 47.1 13.4 8.3 0 0 899.3

Q2 2012 486.9 383 67.2 2.4 0.9 0.5 3.4 944.3

Q3 2012 345.4 203.5 37 3.6 0 2.1 0 591.6

Q4 2012 516.2 276.4 114 4.3 0.5 2.9 0 914.3

Q1 2013 434.1 318.5 83.8 6.2 0 7.4 0 850

Q2 2013 499.3 358 113.3 14.8 11.7 4.5 5 1007

Q3 2013 518.8 379.5 133.3 6.2 0 9.6 0 1047

Q4 2013 491.3 465.9 110.1 3 0 9.9 0 1080

 Table (4): Number of the properties and lands traded from Q1 2011 to Q4 2013

Quarter  Residential  Investment  Commercial  Warehouse  Coastal  Crafts  Exhibitions  Total

Q1 2011 1,761 386 19 2 3 0 0 2,171

Q2 2011 1,805 506 29 1 2 0 0 2,343

Q3 2011 1,300 312 13 2 1 0 0 1,628

Q4 2011 1,221 327 17 6 0 0 0 1,571

Q1 2012 2,210 418 16 13 2 0 0 2,659

Q2 2012 2,293 474 17 2 1 2 1 2,790

Q3 2012 1,464 347 14 7 0 2 0 1,834

Q4 2012 2,280 396 31 4 1 4 0 2,716

Q1 2013 1,549 405 25 3 0 17 0 1,999

Q2 2013 1,669 546 73 6 4 7 2 2,307

Q3 2013 1,804 431 30 4 0 15 0 2,284

Q4 2013 1,574 433 30 2 0 13 0 2,052

 Trade in the residential sector during this quarter focused on the vacant lands where Sabah Al Ahmed Sea City 
occupied the first rank in terms of the value of transactions amounting to KD 85 million distributed in 421 transactions 
followed by Abu Fateera Area with a value of KD 44 million distributed to 167 transactions and then by Al Funaytees 
Area with a value of KD 28 million distributed to 98 transactions.

                                         
 Chart (10): Value and number of real estate transactions in the residential sector: Q1 2011 to Q4 2013
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 Table (5): Most traded areas in the residential sector during the fourth quarter of 2013

 Value in KD Number of transactions Area

85,679,962.342421 Sabah Al Ahmed Sea City

44,073,108.340167 Abu Fateera

28,644,996.00098 Al Funaytees

8,421,250.00068 Al Khayran

21,554,843.00042 Salwa

 At the level of the investment sector, this has seen a significant rise in the value of traded transactions during the 4th 
quarter of 2013 as compared to the previous quarter. The traded transactions value reached about KD 465.9 million 
distributed to 433 transactions compared to KD 379.5 million distributed to 431 transactions during the Q3 of 2013 
recording a rise of 18% in the value of transactions.

 This sector is expected to see a growth in 2014 with the introduction of a number of highly budgeted projects under 
the development plan which will enhance the demand of the investment properties particularly in the relatively new 
areas. At the level of the most traded areas in Q4 of 2013 in the investment sector, Al Mahboula region occupied 
the first place in terms of the number of transactions at KD 119 million followed by Salmiya with 54 transactions 
amounting to KD 125 million (it is to mention that the price of one square meter in Salmeya is higher than Al 
Mahboula) then Hawalli with 31 transactions at a value of KD 33 million.

 Table (6): Most traded areas in the investment sector during the fourth quarter of 2013

 Value in KD Number of transactions Area

119,944,554.900163 Al Mahboula

125,478,338.00054 Salmiya

33,302,370.00031 Hawalli

5,813,800.00026 Al Shaab Al Bahari

15,937,208.00017 Farwaneya

 During the fourth quarter of 2013, the commercial sector has seen a fall in the value of traded transactions as 
compared to the previous quarter of the same year, as the amount of transactions in such sector reached KD 110.1 
million divided into 30 transactions compared to KD 133.3 million divided into 30 transactions in the Q3 2013; with 
a fall of 17.4% in value. As for the most traded areas, Sabah Al Ahmed Sea City occupied first place in terms of 
the value and number of transactions amounting to KD 23 million divided into 8 transactions followed by Khaytan 

 Chart (11): Value and number of real estate transactions in the investment sector from Q1 2011 to Q4 2013
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with KD 15 million divided into four transactions then Farwaneya area with a value of KD 13 million divided into 3 
transactions.

 Moreover, the warehouse and crafts sectors saw a relative activity with a value of KD 12.9 million. It is noteworthy to 
mention that both sectors contributed to 1% of the total market value.

 Table (7): Most traded areas in the commercial sector during the 4th quarter of 2013

 Value in KD Number of transactions Area

23,103,900.0008 Sabah Al Ahmed Sea City

15,087,717.5004 Al Khayran

13,531,666.0003 Farwaneya

9,184,375.0003 Al Qibla

13,033,614.0002 Al Jahraa

 Furthermore, the proportional distribution in the real estate market activity shows that the residential sector accounts 
for 46% of the total activities of the market followed by the investment sector with 43% then the commercial sector 
with 10% and lastly the crafts and warehouses sectors with 1% jointly. The monthly statements of the fourth quarter 
of 2013 indicate that December recorded the highest value in terms of traded properties amounting to KD 449.1 
million followed by November with KD 342.6 million and lastly October with a value of KD 288.7 million.

 Chart (12): Value and number of real estate transactions in the investment sector from Q1 2011 to Q4 2013

 Chart (6): Value and number of real estate transactions from Q1 2011 to Q4 2013
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3: Conclusion:

 From this report, it is concluded that the market activity in 2013 was mainly due to the increase in the value of traded 
properties in the commercial and investment sectors with 66% and 27.9% respectively, while the traded value of 
residential sector rose by 4.85% only. These changes provide some clear indications which can be used to reasonably 
assess the future course of the Kuwaiti real estate market. Through this analytical data, we note that the investors 
began to tend towards the investment sector in general and the commercial sector in particular simultaneously with 
the recent implementation of the projects of the development plan. Consequently, the investment sector will be more 
affected by the movement and activity of the market as well as the increase of expatriate workforce, while the boom 
of the residential sector will depend on a number of factors including the actual implementation of the Government 
housing plan, the movement of the Financial Market Authority and its returns which recently saw improvement in the 
indicators as compared to the previous years. One of the key factors also is the supply of more lands for this purpose. 
During recent years, the focus was on the trade and re-trade of residential plots where the speculation played a key 
role in the increase of prices and the achievement of rewarding returns over short periods.
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 Chart (7): Proportional distribution of the value of traded properties type-wise during the fourth quarter of 2013

 Chart (9): Value of traded properties in all sectors – monthly in KD million
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 Chart (8): Monthly value and number of real estate transactions traded from January 2013 to December 2013
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Retail Banking Department (RBD)

In 2013, KIB's Retail Banking Department managed to deliver a positive customer experience and achieve 
outstanding development and expansion on different service levels. Following is a highlight of such achievements:

Expansion of Branch Network – Opening of 3 New Branches

One of the objectives that we set for ourselves was to take our banking services to the doorstep of our 
customers. We successfully achieved this goal through the opening of three new branches, bringing the total 
number of branches from 22 by the end of 2012 to 25 in December 2013.  The three new branches were 
opened at important locations (Al Daia’a, Souk Al Salmiya & Law College) where our customers and prospects 
frequent.

Expansion of ATM Network

Today’s customers are tech savvy. They expect banking services to be available to them at their convenience, 
deeming ATMs a crucial electronic delivery channel for banks. KIB’s network of offsite ATMs have grown steadily 
over the years. To date, KIB has 33 ATMs and 25 CDMs that cater to the growing needs of our customers.

POS Terminals

KIB is rapidly expanding its vital POS network to facilitate the electronic funds transfer from customers to 
merchants, thus offering alternative methods to procure payments for goods and services.

Launch of Visa Prepaid Card on Kuwait National Day

On the auspicious occasion of Kuwait National Day in February 2013, we celebrated with the launch a special 
Visa Prepaid Card. The card has been widely accepted by our customers.

Airport Lounge Access

In order to add value to our Visa Platinum and Visa Gold card products, we launched the Airport Lounge 
access service. This service offers our Visa Platinum and Visa Gold cardholders’ complimentary access at over 
50 airport lounges in major cities across the world.

Murabaha & Musawama

Murabaha and Musawama are two of the different financing modes available in Islamic banking.  During the 
year under review, KIB successfully partnered with a number of automobile, marine equipment and healthcare 
vendors to promote Murabaha and Musawama financing to its customers.
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Marketing Campaigns

In order to increase KIB’s market share in several critical products, the bank successfully launched a number 
of marketing campaigns backed by customer service to promote its most important products such as Salary 
Accounts, Visa Cards, Murabaha financing.  

Foreign Post Office Boxes – Posta Plus – Value-Added Service

We launched a value-added service for our Visa Cardholders, offering them a complimentary life-time 
subscription - to three foreign post office boxes - Posta plus - with one each in the US, the UK and the UAE.  
Each of our selected customers may apply for this service and get three boxes in the above-named countries 
through our outsourced partner, giving them the ability to order goods online and have them shipped to any of 
these addresses as if they reside locally in that country. The shipments are thereafter received by the company 
in Kuwait and delivered to the customer’s door step.

Child & Youth Financial International (CYFI)

CYFI is an international NGO whose mission is to teach children financial discipline at an early age through 
various programs. KIB is the first bank in Kuwait to associate with CYFI as part of its Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) program. Alongside CYFI, KIB reaches out to over 20 schools in Kuwait and educate 
children about the importance of saving.

Special Shareholder Services

Following our customer segmentation study, we carved a new segment in our customer base composed of 
customers who are also KIB shareholders based on a set of criteria. Aiming to provide special care to this 
segment, we offered them a tailor-made products and services package with the support of a dedicated Retail 
Finance Officer.
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 Commercial Banking Department (CBD)

 Commercial Banking Department (CBD) offers Shariah compliant financing products to its wide range of 
customers from various industry sectors through its dedicated specialized  divisions: Trading Division to 
finance large & mid-sized trading entities,  Small and Medium Enterprises (SME) Division which caters to small 
businesses of all segments, Real Estate Finance Division to serve real estate corporate dealers and individuals 
in developing real estate to support the growing economy, Project Finance Division (PFD) to serve need-based 
finance of infrastructure projects and a division named “Contracting” exclusively to take care of financing needs 
of “Contractors” from all industry segments. Through the collective and dedicated efforts of all five divisions, 
CBD has been able to achieve spectacular progress in the business goals entrusted upon by the Bank which 
are summarized below:

•   In 2013, CBD portfolio registered growth of more than 20% relative to 2012 despite the highly competitive environment.

•   Sector concentration in the Real Estate Segment has been reduced by expanding in other economic sectors.

•  CBD reduced concentration of portfolio to the top 20 customers to less than 30% by diversifying its 
customerbase across a wide spectrum of business sectors.

•  CBD has been able to strengthen and improve the quality of assets through constant and vigilant watch by 
its staff in addition to support and guidance from its top management, as reflected in the increase of credit 
portfolio revenues.

 CBD shall always be fully committed and will spare no efforts to meet all aspired business goals in 2014.

Property Management Division (PMD)

In continuation of the positive results achieved during 2012, Property Management Division achieved its targets 
in terms of performance, increased revenues, cost reduction and offering best-quality services to housing and 
commercial units’ tenants taking into account changing rental rates inconsistent with market rates.

In 2013, PMD focused on few key activities that included undertaking maintenance works in all KIB branches, 
adding new properties of Kuwait Awqaf Public Foundation, installation of new electronic system that facilitated 
accounting operations and preparation of RE maintenance report, and better organized RE supervisors’ jobs 
and starting on-line rental payments through KIB’s website and direct payment at KIB branches which helped 
reduce collection costs and minimized cash payment risks.

Real Estate Appraisal Div. (READ)

READ had several major achievements during 2013. The most significant was the successful installation, 
training and data entry of the PMD system. This had a major impact on improving and organizing work in READ, 
providing prompt reports of the staff output, and saving on operational costs. The other major achievement of 
READ was surpassing the budgeted income set at KD 820,000/ - by 10%, and the total number of properties 
appraised by 13%. This was a result of the announcement made by the Kuwait Central Bank and Kuwait 
Stock Exchange to local banks and Real Estate companies to get their properties appraised annually by KIB 
& KFH. KIB managed to earn the trust of financial companies. Last but not the least, was READ’s association 
with Kuwait University and the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers to offer RE appraisal courses. This 
alliance is expected to give a further boost to KIB’s image as a pioneer and market leader in the Kuwaiti Real 
Estate market.

READ has also played a pivotal role in providing RE appraisal reports to the Investment Department to enhance 
KIB’s profitability as well as to provide RE services to KIB’s other divisions & departments, such as new bank 
branch valuation studies. It has also assisted in the preparation of RE market quarterly reports in liaison with 
KIB’s Economic Department, as well as to train newly-appointed staff.

Corporate Support
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Administration & Technical Division

The Administration Division was instrumental in meeting the business objectives of KIB following the successful 
openings of 3 new branches during 2013, located at Al Daia’a, Souk Al Salmiya and Law College. Apart from 
opening new branches, the Administration & Technical Division provided exceptional bank-wide support and 
maintenance services while conducting numerous studies that resulted in decreased costs in opening the said 
branches. Finally, it connected cameras at all KIB branches to the Contact Center for monitoring.

Operations

The Operations Department of KIB played a major role in ensuring the smooth functioning of all day-to-day 
banking operations through the implementation of best practices, policies and processes. During the year 
2013, KIB reorganized its internal organizational structure to gain greater long-term profitability, continuous 
improvement in customer service and to efficiently deliver various products.

Furthermore, the Operations Department also worked on the up-gradation and testing of IT systems, so as to 
develop robust systems that would be able to support the requirements of an ever-growing market. The testing 
is complete and is now in the final stages of implementation. The IBAN system of payments between banks, 
and the STP method was implemented by the Operations Department, to enhance service and provide faster 
payments to the customers.

Operational procedures were revised to reduce processing time and provide greater customer satisfaction whilst 
maintaining high quality control in operations. The Operations Department also supported the management’s 
initiative of improving the Kuwaitization ratio by employing and training young Kuwaitis.

The Vendor Relations Unit was brought under the purview of Operations in order to lead, initiate, establish and 
maintain relationships with vendors and suppliers involved in the Bank’s financing business, and to support the 
Bank’s departments.

IT Department
The achievement of the Information Technology Department in the year 2013 has been focused on upgrading 
existing systems and applications as well as development of new business-related applications and MIS 
enhancements to aid business users with their day-to-day work and assist the management team in their 
decision making. 

With substantial support from the Bank’s management, the 2013 Information Technology strategy has focused 
on business process improvement, customer service, IT security and risk mitigation.

Below are some of its achievements:

Ethix – Branch Automation

As part of the continuous improvement on customer service and to cater to future business requirements, KIB 
has replaced the current banking front-end system (Mosaic) with a flexible and state-of-the-art technology 
based system to perform teller functionalities, Islamic finance originations and maintenance.

Finance Tracking System (Retail)

ITD developed a new system between branches (front-end) & Retail Credit Review Unit (back-end) for new 
retail finance requests in order to speed up finance turnaround time and decision making from 2-3 days to less 
than one day.  The new system has assisted in avoiding duplicate applications.
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Customer Segmentation

The existing customer segmentation in the system has been revamped to support marketing needs.  It is 
categorized to promote business products to the customer in order to bring more business to the bank.  This 
will help the promotions department to identify the appropriate customer eligible for the product and cross sell 
products to them.

Upgrade of Al-Dawli Online (Internet banking system)

Upgrading Al-Dawli Online with new functionalities and security features in-line with the latest technology, as 
well as enhancing the overall performance and customer experience.

Visa Card Advance Payment

KIB introduced the new Credit Card and Prepaid Card Advanced Payment Service through online banking (Al-
Dawli Online) and branches.  It is a self-service function that enables the customer to login to Al-Dawli Online 
and pay their credit card dues in advance, which will take effect instantly and replenish customer limit in real-

time (online).

CBK Reports IBS-M Project

Based on the new reporting requirements from Central Bank of Kuwait all the IBS (Islamic Banking System) 
reports are amended and new reports are developed to support the Finance Department in complying with 
the requirement of the Central Bank of Kuwait.  Through this automated process, the Finance Department can 
receive the report on time and send it to the Central Bank of Kuwait.  We implemented the structured approach 
so that it will be easy to create any new report and amend the existing ones in the future.

Imaging, Scanning & Archiving System

To work in line with the top management’s strategy to facilitate growth of the bank by providing the highest 
quality support, ITD acquired a totally new archiving system built on the latest technology that can save KIB 
documents securely and provide an easy way for future retrieval and reference while facilitating business 

process automation through a friendly interface that is accessible by all departments.

Comprehensive KPI MIS – ATM Channel & Debit/Credit Cards

New comprehensive MIS for ATMs and cards have been developed to monitor and enhance the availability of 

the ATM network to be in the 99th percentile and minimize downtime.

PCI DSS

Mitigation of risks and enhancement of security is always a concern in the banking sector and this year, the 
bank has been eventful in achieving the major milestone in the Payment Card Industry – Data Security Standard 
(PCI-DSS) compliance certification for the third consecutive year. 
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Backup System

ITD has implemented a Symantec NetBackup software and NetBackup Appliances Solution along with 
Symantec Enterprise Vault Archiving and eDiscovery Solution, thereby enabling the bank to streamline data 
protection operations.  Below is some of the business values delivered:

•	 An incremental backup policy resulting in faster speeds at reduced cost.

•	 Duplication across virtual and physical systems reduces costs.

•	 Faster Backup and Recovery, reducing downtimes and meeting SLAs.

•	 Automated Disk Backup solution.

•	 Avoiding manual tape shipping process to DR site by automating disk backup replication and Tape out to 
DR site.

In addition to the achievements above, the Bank’s Information Technology Department has worked on various 
other initiatives and has been recognized as a well-known group of highly-trained and exceptional professionals 
in the Middle East through its shortlisting in five award categories across two prestigious accolades held in 
Dubai this year. The shortlists are as follows:

NominationNomination Category

Symantec Netbackup Upgrade BFSI (Banking & Finance Sector Implementation)

deployment of the year
1

Bank’s IT DepartmentIT Team of the year2

Mr. Deepu Thomas Philip, Manager – ITFuture CIO of the year3

1 - Award: CNME: Computer News Middle East – ICT ACHIEVEMENT AWARDS 2013   

2 - Award: ACN: Arabian Computer News – ARAB TECHNOLOGY AWARDS 2013   

NominationNomination Category

 Infrastructure Transformation BFSI (Banking & Finance Sector Implementation)

deployment of the year
1

Bank’s IT DepartmentIT Team of the year2

Summary Of Achievements For 2013

CBK Reports IBS-M ProjectEthix – Branch Automation

Imaging, Scanning & Archiving SystemFinance Tracking System (Retail)

Comprehensive KPI MIS – ATM Channel & Debit/

Credit Cards

Customer Segmentation

PCI-DSSUpgrade of Al-Dawli Online (Internet banking system)

Backup SystemPre-Paid Visa Card
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Information Security Unit

Information Security Unit is an independent unit that reports directly to the CEO. The scope of this department 
covers current business strategy and framework for securing, identifying, assessing, evaluating and controlling 
the Bank’s information by establishing and maintaining the information security policy, procedures and systems 
baselines. The aim of this unit being independent is to provide it with maximum flexibility required to achieve the 
objectives of the Bank’s Information Security. The unit is run and managed by highly qualified and experienced 
professionals certified by the world’s top security institutes.

In light of the recent increase in cyber-crimes throughout the financial sector, Information Security focuses on 
securing customer data, transactions and wealth in addition to creating employee awareness. Additionally, to 
reach ultimate efficiency in the field of information security, KIB must  achieve the key objectives of information 
security: confidentiality, integrity & availability. This can only be accomplished by having a strong Information 
Security plan, policies and procedures as well as support from top management in enforcing such rules.

To achieve its aforementioned objectives, the Information Security Unit launched a new e-Learning program 
entitled Information Security Awareness for all KIB staff. This program will assist in the identification and 
avoidance of any possible security violations which may lead to data theft, breach or loss.

To ensure maximum security of the Bank’s information, the Information Security Unit started a project in 2013 
which will enable KIB to comply with the ISO27001 standards along with its guidelines and certification. 
Additionally, the definitive aim of complying with such a highly recognized standard is to increase customer 
trust and confidence.

Treasury Department
Treasury has successfully controlled and managed the bank’s liquidity by ensuring availability of funds for regular 
and unplanned obligations and maintained mandatory reserves and liquidity ratios through its continuous 
assessment of liquidity and profit rate risks. Treasury also met all the budget targets in terms of cost of financing 
and spread on Treasury financing and investment of excess funds. Our edge came from efficient, experienced 
calibers and excellent team work.

Looking forward, 2014 will present additional challenges in managing liquidity and maintaining low cost of 
financing due to the expectation of world economic improvement, growing optimism over the global economy 
and expectations of tapering by the United States Federal Reserve (a reduction of bond purchases as means 
to end the Fed’s quantitative easing program which began in 2008).

Investment Department
The Investment Department of KIB manages the proprietary investment portfolio in both financial and direct 
investments. In-line with efforts to support the bottom line income, the Investment Department played a 
prominent role in 2013 by identifying and capturing substantial investment opportunities. Beyond local and 
GCC markets, KIB extended its investment exposure in international markets by partnering with world-
renowned entities that provided KIB with a global presence and network. The partnership was aimed at 
portfolio diversification and optimization of risk-return trade off.

The Investment Department in coordination and collaboration with other departments, particularly the Risk 
Management Department, constantly monitors the market for potential risks and opportunities including entry 
and exit timing. The department is also dynamically appraising and aligning the investment portfolio to the 
investment strategy and market conditions.

Throughout the year, the Investment Department successfully disposed all non-Shariah compliant investments 
from the portfolio in accordance with the guidelines provided by internal and external regulators.
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 The Legal Department
 KIB’s Legal Department, in collaboration with other departments, divisions and branch offices at KIB, 
continuously strives to offer legal advice as and when needed. It prepares the required legal paper work, 
contracts and agreements, in addition to filing of cases to safeguard the legal rights of KIB. The Department 
also contributes towards the achievement of the objectives set by the Board of Directors.

Risk Management Department
Moving from traditional Risk Management towards Enterprise-wide Risk Management (ERM)

The Bank’s Risk Management Department is primarily responsible for the risk management in the Bank. 

The Risk Management Department is structured in a manner which facilitates focused attention on each of 
the specific risk arising from financial instruments areas, e.g., credit, liquidity, market encompassing foreign 
exchange, profit rate, equity risks) and other risks such as operational risks.

As the independence of the Risk Management function is a concern of the Central Bank of Kuwait as part of 
governance, the risk management reports to the Chairman and the Board risk management committee, and 
administratively to the bank’s Chairman.

The risk management department is headed by the general manager risk management, and the department is 
currently manned by a team of experienced and qualified Risk Managers and Analysts.

`

The bank took steps to move ahead and upgrade the risk management approach of traditional risk 
concepts currently in place into the modern approach of enterprise wide risk management (ERM), taking into 
consideration the Basel guidelines, regulatory instructions regarding governance and the best banking industry 
practices worldwide. The bank is currently developing a wider architecture of ERM and expects to finalize this 
restructuring for implementation by 2014.

Several risk management initiatives were implemented throughout the year to reinforce the Bank-wide risk 
management function. The Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment process ICAAP and stress testing ensured 
that the enterprise wide risk impacting the Bank are quantified and highlighted to the Senior Management 
as well as the Board of Directors.  Further the scenarios and assumptions used in the stress testing were 
revisited and optimized to improve the measurement approach. The Bank continued to use the CAMEL BCOM 
approach to undertake self-risk assessment which is supplementary to the ICAAP process.

Chairman

General Manager – Risk Management Admin Coordinator

  Risk Polices

 and Analytics

Division

 Operational

Risk  Division

 Market Risk

Division

 Credit Risk

 Control

Division

 Credit Risk

 Review and

 Portfolio Analysis

Division

Provisions Unit

Board Risk Management Committee
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Bank’s Risk Strategy

The Bank’s risk strategy is to focus its efforts on key areas of the Basel III impact study and assessment which 
is expected to be a regulatory requirement in the coming years. Also the bank is planning to comprehensively 
review and restructure its risk policies, taking into consideration competitive market updates, clients’ needs, 
regulatory requirements and best practices in the banking industry.

Upgrading the Solutions/Software is targeted for is to serve the risk management functions.

Delegation of Authority 

The Board shall exercise judgment in establishing and revising the delegation of authority for Board Committees 
and Management. This delegation could be for authorization of expenditures, approval of credit facilities and 
for other corporate actions. Such delegations may be approved and expressed under various policies of 
the Bank. The thresholds for the identified authorities will depend upon the operating requirements of the 
Bank. The issues of major capital expenditure, divestitures, investments and acquisitions, certain strategic 
investments would be within Board’s authority and would be recommended by risk management. The bank 
is revisiting its Delegation of authority matrix and the delegation given (Financial and Non-financial) through its 
Risk Management function and monitored by BOD in order to facilitate the work environment and make sure 
the controls are in place is sufficient and adequate.

Credit Risk

The Credit Risk Management Division is part of the Risk Management Department headed by the GM, Risk 
Management. 

The Credit Risk division analyses every Credit Proposal submitted by business units and provides a well-
structured opinion necessary to manage and control credit risk within overall quantitative prudential norms and 
guidelines set up by Bank Board. 

The Division is entrusted with the job of approval of policies on standards for presentation of credit proposal, 
fine tuning required in various rating models based on feedbacks or change in market scenario, approval of 
any other action necessary to comply with requirements set forth in Credit Risk Management Policy/CBK 
guidelines or otherwise required for managing credit risk.

As part of risk the management function, the Credit Risk Management strategy is to manage the credit risks 
in KIB’s lending operations. A Comprehensive Board Approved Credit Risk Management Policy as well as the 
Banks’ Credit Policy is reviewed and revised annually. Each new/future exposure is linked to the total exposure 
of the Bank and the Capital of the Bank as required by the regulatory guidelines and internal controls. Every 
exposure carries a Credit rating and credit exposures are allowed only to defined thresholds of risk levels.

The review of accounts and the available collateral, if any, is usually done once a year. But in case of deterioration 
in the quality of advance the frequency of review is shortened to half yearly or quarterly as per the case. 
Collateral evaluation is done by independent evaluation agencies or as defined in the policies.

Risk Management prepares a quarterly and semiannual Portfolio and industry study on a comprehensive level 
which provides necessary information to the Management about the quantitative and qualitative aspects of the 
financing exposures and the various macro and micro observations on the existing markets and prospects. 

Credit Risk controls also assist in protecting the Bank’s assets to ensure profitable use of Bank resources 
and to be in-line within the bank financing policy and compliance with CBK instructions and other regulatory 
bodies. Risk management is also monitoring and assessing the provisions for several risks (regular, past dues 
and NPLs).
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Risk Policies 

Due to the importance of the Bank’s policies, the board has delegated its Risk Committee (BRMC) to be 
responsible for reviewing risk policies and recommend and approve any changes to them to the Board of 
Director’s for final ratification. Part of the annual practice, the bank runs its annual review to the Bank’s risk 
policies.

Risk Analytics and Modeling

Risk analytics is an integral part of the risk management function in the bank and continuously assists in 
developing both risk models and financial models to assist in measuring the risks in the bank. These models 
included ICAAP, Stress tests, CAMEL BCOM, Benchmarks study and risk-based analysis.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, 
or from external events.

The Bank’s business and support units have primary responsibility for identifying, assessing and managing 
their operational risks. They employ internal control techniques to reduce their likelihood or impact to tolerable 
levels within the Bank’s risk appetite. Where appropriate, risk is mitigated by way of insurance.

The Bank has a set of policies and procedures that are applied to identify, assess and control operations risk 
in addition to other types of risks relating to the banking and financial activities of the Bank. Operational risk is 
managed through the Risk Management Department. This department ensures compliance with policies and 
procedures to identify, assess, control and monitor operational risk as part of overall risk management.

The Risk Management Department ensures compliance with all material respects with CBK instructions, 
regarding general guidelines for internal control systems keeping in view “Sound practices for management 
and control of operational risks”.

The Department continuously provided its expertise and shared recommendations on various business and 
operational proposals with the view of mitigating risks effectively. A proactive approach has been adopted 
keeping in focus business requirements and the overall interest of the Bank’s shareholders and customers 
while being complaint with regulatory guidelines. Assessments of Operational Risk and Controls have been 
initiated across the Bank through self-assessments by various departments. Proactive control mechanisms 
have been implemented though well-established process for Procedure and Policy reviews. Loss Events and 
other related events are monitored and appropriate mitigation recommendations are provided.

Market Risk

RMD monitors liquidity risks, market risks and profit rate risk on a regular basis.  Internal prudential measures of 
risk are in place for managing the liquidity, market and profit rate risks of the bank. The Bank also assesses the 
market risk through internally developed Value at Risk (VaR) measures.  ALCO periodically reviews the stress 
testing of the profit rate and liquidity risk in order to adopt proper corrective actions. 

Market Risks is defined as the potential loss in the value of the financial instruments caused by adverse 
movements in market variables i.e. Profit Rate Risk (risk due to changes in market benchmark profit rates e.g., 
CBK Discount Rate), Exchange Rate Risk (risk due to changes in exchange rates) and Price Risk (risk due to 
change in prices of trading assets) equity prices and also includes Liquidity Risk (risk that the Bank may not be 
able to meet all its near-term liquidity needs within a reasonable cost). 

The department monitors the above risks on a daily, fortnightly and monthly basis based on the various 
quantitative limits, trend analysis as well as an internally developed VaR model to measure the foreign exchange 
and equity Risk. Stress testing on Profit Rate and Liquidity Risk is reviewed by ALCO on regular basis in order 
to take corrective actions.
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To further strengthen the market risk reporting and monitoring mechanism, the Department introduced Risk 
levels for market risk reports to improve the utility of these reports and enable suitable and timely corrective 
action by senior management. 

Business Continuity Management (BCM):

KIB has successfully achieved ISO 22301:2012 BCM certification. The scope of certification indicates that 
KIB operates a robust Business Continuity Management System (BCMS) which covers the following: Retail 
Banking Operations, Commercial Banking, Treasury and Back Office functions in Kuwait.

KIB is the first bank in Kuwait to obtain an ISO 22301:2012 certificate by BSI (British Standards Institute) in 
addition to being the first of such to undergo a successful independent assessment while demonstrating 
compliance with global standards.

The ISO 22301:2012 certification, the latest standards in BCMS, presents a framework enabling organizations 
to follow a disciplined approach in identifying critical processes and ensuring business continuity with minimal 
disruption in the event that one or more of its critical processes are temporarily interrupted. By acheiving this, 
we have ensured that our processes are well mapped and aligned to build organizational resilience, to prevent 
or reduce the occurrence of business disruptions and ensure readiness to respond to any unforeseen event 
with a heightened level of confidence to employees, management, customers, service providers and other 
stakeholders.

This is certainly a proactive stance to reducing risk and ensuring the resilience of the KIB against unexpected 
disruptions. The business continuity management system implemented and maintained provides a rigorous 
mechanism to ensure that key products and services can be effectively restored should disaster strike. Initiatives 
such as these make KIB better equipped to handle incidents and business disruptive and that the KIB fully 
committed ensuring safety of its assets and employees as well as protecting its Stakeholders, Customer 
interests and corporate reputation to continue providing products and services.

Achieving the distinction of being the first bank in Kuwait to be certified to the Business Continuity standards 
ISO22301:2012, is clear demonstration of leadership. 

Bank’s Risk and Compliance Projects 

As stated earlier, during 2013, KIB initiated several key projects in order to comply with regulatory requirements, 
and to take steps towards the ERM in its wide concept. The risk management team managed the following 
projects, under directions by the board risk management committee:

Corporate Governance (CG) Project: 
Complying with the regulatory instructions by Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK), the bank leads a project to ensure 
that the governance structure in place is matching with the corporate governance instructions. at the end of 
June 2013 which is the deadline given by CBK, KIB was the first bank posted the CG manual on the bank 
website in both Arabic & English versions.

FATCA Compliance project as per CBK guidelines: 
As per CBK guidelines to comply with the globally announced compliance act FATCA (Foreign Accounts Tax 
Act) by US IRS, KIB worked hardly with high dedicated team, and established an internal steering committee 
headed by RMD to manage FATCA project in order to comply with regulatory requirements and to be FATCA 
compliant.

Other Projects:
The risk management is also managing other major projects in coordination with other departments and 
monitored by the board risk management committee, like Credit Risk Rating Validation, Delegation of Authority 
Matrix, advanced ERM software, and Policy Restructure.
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 Human Resources Department 
Human Resources Planning and Development Division

 Human Resources Planning and Development Division contributed to several strategic projects in-line with 
agreed plans in 2012. These contributions led to forming an organizational structure update team throughout 
all levels of KIB. Job descriptions and administration policies were updated in accordance with the latest labor 
law regulatory developments. Employee guidelines and individual performance evaluation systems were also 
modified in accordance with KIB’s strategic plans and objectives.

 The organizational structure upgrades have given priority to replacement plans and career grading in order to 
achieve KIB’s objectives aimed at forging a distinctive competitive position in the local market. The department 
participates in an integrated HR Department database system, owing to the speed and accuracy of this system 
to accomplish business tasks, and to meet all needs such as instant reports and other special services of cadre 
careers. The current recruitment policy of the Bank, which was proposed and implemented by the HRD, has 
proven to be effective as seen in our ability to attract numerous highly-competent employees to the Bank.

 Training Division

 The Training Division lays great emphasis on staff training programs keeping track of the latest developments 
in Islamic banking. Comprehensive training plans are in place to ensure optimum utilization of the approved 
budget in collaboration with local training and world class institutions. Seeking to improve HR performance, it 
contributes to achieving KIB’s vision and goals.

 Training fresh graduate employees and providing them with proper qualifications to join KIB’s workforce 
in various departments remains at the top of KIB’s priorities. Training plans encompass all bank staff, with 
particular focus on orientation and refresher programs in retail services. The Division provides awareness 
sessions to update Bank staff on the new banking rules and regulations.

 In-line with KIB’s policies aimed at supporting and fostering talents of those who have obtained specialized 
certificates in various banking fields, KIB holds a great interest in encouraging its staff members to regularly 
attend courses that will improve their skills and update their knowledge. KIB is committed to providing its staff 
with superior training relative to their peers and counterparts in other banks and institutions.

 Personnel Affairs Division

 Personnel Affairs Division stands as an important division that caters to the needs of the Human Resources 
Department and essentially connects staff with one another in various departments and divisions. The main 
functions and duties of the Personnel Affairs Division are as follows:

•	 Meet staff requirements and ensure their satisfaction in a way that maximizes employee productivity and 

performance.

•	 Implement approved corporate policies to manage Human Resources in accordance with the Kuwait labor 

law in the private sector.

•	 Prepare staff payroll and follow-up annual and sick leaves.

•	 Cooperate and coordinate with the Public Institution for Social Security to register Kuwaiti employees.

•	 Communicate with the Ministry of Social Affairs & Labor for the completion of non-Kuwaiti staff residency 

permits, and implement national labor ratios policies.
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International Banking Department (IBD)
The International Banking Department (IBD), a key division within the corporate structure of KIB, is entrusted 
with dual responsibilities aiming to execute the bank’s carefully devised strategy of building and maintaining 
international relations while promoting international financing and correspondent banking services. Managed 
by a team of qualified and experienced banking professionals, IBD operates within a strict risk management 
framework, and continuously strives to keep pace with the industry’s best practices.

IBD operations revolve around the following segments with the aim to develop specific products and services 
for the benefit of our clients:

•	 International Correspondent Banking

•	 Financing Solutions (Syndicated loans, Structured & Project Financing, Trade Financing, Risk Participations)

•	 Capital Markets funding and placements etc.

In 2013, IBD executed a number of financing transactions that included bilateral/joint loans and project financing 
transactions which enhanced its international presence.

Additionally, IBD is strategically focused on diversifying its portfolio exposure across products and geographies 
with an emphasis on emerging markets.

IBD further enhanced its close links with a growing number of major international banks throughout the world, 
which contributed to expediting the exchange of business flows and multi-currency fund transfers for clients 
and institutions efficiently.

Over this period, IBD has evolved into an important source of value creation for KIB as well as its clients by 
providing a window to the outside world. IBD has maintained a high reputation in the Islamic banking industry 
and works persistently to structure innovative and competitive Shariah compliant financing products. Such 
endeavors have helped KIB carve out a special market niche for its International Business and Correspondent 
Banking activities within the Islamic banking industry.

Moreover, the rising demand for Shariah compliant solutions and the growing market appetite for Islamic 
products resulted in opening up a number of opportunities for IBD.
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 Economic Research Department (ERD) 
 ERD plays a crucial role in the core decision-making process at KIB by providing valuable data and conducting 
analyses on the various industries, sectors and financial institutions. Through the study of major economic, 
financial and monetary developments in the region, ERD is able to assess their potential impact and provide 
forecasts and technical support to various KIB departments. ERD’s function plays a vital role in the  field of 
Islamic Banking, as Islamic Banks are authorized by the law to maintain direct invesetments in a wide range of 
sectors leading to the possession of transferable and intangible assets. In addition, Islamic Banks conducting 
operations in Kuwait and abroad are expected to fully comprehend the economic environment.

 ERD continues to provide necessary technical support to achieve marketing analysis of some products, 
requested by KIB’s Marketing Department. In this context, ERD’s role is not restricted to supplying data and 
statistics related to KIB, well considered vital to enrich the knowledge of the staff, but rather to supervise and 
manage the changes connected to KIB’s operations and identify their impact on the Bank’s activities. This is 
achieved through close monitoring of the economic indices, their market impact and other related factors. 
Considering the importance of ERD, KIB consistently shows great interest in attracting the best and most 
efficient professionals to the Department. Since inception in October 2006, ERD succeeded in creating a 
solid database to include economic statistics and information related to the overall economy, banking and 
financial sector in addition to retail marketing which represents a major interest to KIB. ERD was developed 
to address the needs of KIB’s various departments, where a specialized Information Centre was founded to 
embrace economic and financial reviews, periodicals and many other reports. The Centre was provided with 
the latest statistics programs of the economy used in research and analytical studies. In 2013, ERD proceeded 
to issue Real-Estate periodical reports, in addition to a semi-annual report specialized in measuring the risks of 
the Real-Estate sector in Kuwait, not to mention KIB’s Annual Report that addresses CBK instructions dated 
June 20th, 2012 to develop a semi-annual report on KIB’s efforts in addressing challenges that slow down 
the retail and corporate sectors’ development. KIB dedicated major interest and importance to these sectors 
throughout 2013, while ERD developed two relevant reports and two similar technical studies on Private 
Education and Health Sectors in Kuwait.

 Furthermore, ERD continued to participate in seminars to enrich KIB’s contribution to the Islamic Economic 
and banking research studies by hosting a selection of academic staff and specialized economists, or by 
participating in local and external forums. To this extent, ERD submitted a work paper in the 4th Annual Forum 
for the Listed Companies & Analyst 2013 and attended related important conferences.

 ERD continued providing the latest books and key references to the Bank Library. Similarly, ERD enhanced the 
electronic database of “Kuwait Al-Youm Ghazette” and made this database, which is updated weekly, available 
to all KIB staff.       
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Outline on Fatwa & Shariah Supervisory Board Activities

Praise be to Almighty Allah and Peace & Blessings be upon Prophet Mohamed, His blessed Family, Companions 
and Followers.

The Fatwa & Shariah Supervisory Board of Kuwait International Bank hereby presents an outline of its activities 
performed during the fiscal year 2013 as follows: 

• Fatwa & Shariah Supervisory Board held four meetings in which it took twenty two (22) decisions on 
various issues which we received from various KIB departments. 

• A total of eight contracts and agreements referred to Fatwa & Shariah  Supervisory Board and Islamic 
Governance included usufruct, Al Musawama, Accumulated Finance, Gulf Wakala Investment and Inter 
Wakala Investment. Certain fees and commissions related to KIB in connection with Operations Department 
activities in the field of letters of guarantee and real estate properties appraisal have also been approved. 

• In relation to retail banking services, local Tawarruq contract conditions and supplier companies as well 
payments in favor of welfare services and to the interest of public charity have been approved, while certain 
fees and commissions related to banking services have also been amended. 

• In the field of investment management, participation in investment funds, Islamic Sukuk issues and 
Accumulated Finance have been reviewed, as well as other issues in relation to the liquidation of KIB’s 
assets in the traditional portfolio during the pre-transformation era. 

• The Marketing and Public Relations Department’s promotional and marketing advertisements, KIB Fatawi 
Manual, KIB Services and Products Guide have been either amended or approved. In addition, the Holy 
Quran competition to involve KIB staff and their families was held and a training course on Islamic Banking 
for 20 Accounting and Banking Finance graduates from Kuwait Universities and Institutions was organized 
as well.

• In the field of Shariah control, we have verified that KIB’s activities are conducted in strict compliance with 
the Shariah controls adopted by KIB.

• In the field of Shariah auditing, the approved semiannual auditing plan has been implemented in compliance 
with the policies adopted by KIB. Auditing included all bank departments, divisions and branches. A report 
has been referred for external auditing and then to the Board’s members and the Chief Executive Officer. 

• Praise be to Almighty Allah, this task has been fulfilled in full cooperation extended positively by Managers, 
Executive Directors, Heads of Divisions and all KIB staff.

• In the field of  Shariah education, several training courses have been held on the fundamental basics of 
Islamic banking and its products mainly on the following subjects: Governance of the investment banking 
field, Mudaraba, investment by proxy (agency), leasing diminishing to acquisition, Islamic investment forms 
& tools and  Shariah qualification of new candidates. The total number of courses was eleven training 
course while the number of trainees was (221). 

• Several articles on Islamic transactions jurisprudence have been uploaded to the Internet. 
• The Shariah Board responded to various inquiries received from KIB’s staff, customers and visiting university 

students who were also provided with information in connection with the transformation to Islamic Banking 
and Shariah aspects regarding banking, finance and investment issues. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS 
OF KUWAIT INTERNATIONAL BANK K.S.C.P.

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P 
(the “Bank”) and its subsidiary (together, the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated statements of profit or loss, profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting polices 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Group as at 31 December 2013, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
KUWAIT INTERNATIONAL BANK K.S.C.P (Continued)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Bank and the consolidated 
financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Bank’s Board of Directors relating 
to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that we 
obtained all the information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the 
consolidated financial statements incorporate all information that is required by the Capital Adequacy 
Regulations issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait (‘’CBK’’) as stipulated om CBK Circular No. 2/
RBA/44/2009 dated 15 June 2009, as amended, the Companies Law No. 25 of 2012, as amended, 
and by the Bank’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Associations, as amended, that 
an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of 
Capital Adequacy Regulations issued by the CBK as stipulated in CBK Circular No. 2/RBA/44/2009 
dated 15 June 2009, as amended, the Companies Law No. 25 of 2012, as amended, nor of the 
Bank’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association have occurred during the year 
ended 31 December 2013 that might have had a material effect on the business of the Group or on 
its consolidated financial position.
We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not become aware of any material 
violations of the provisions of Law No. 32 of 1968, as amended, concerning currency, the CBK and 
the organization of banking business, and its related regulations, during the year ended 31 December 
2013 that might have had a material effect on the business of the Group or on its consolidated 
financial position.

Waleed A. Al-Osaimi
License No. 68A
EY
Al-Aiban, Al-Osaimi & Partners

Bader A. Al-Wazzan
License No. 62A
Deloitte & Touche
Al-Wazzan & Co.

10 February 2014
Kuwait 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Year ended 31 December 2013
Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. 
State of Kuwait 
 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss - Year ended 31 December 2013 

4 

  (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 

  31 December 

 Note 2013  2012 

  

Murabaha and other Islamic financing income 16 51,326 44,965 

Distribution to depositors 17 (7,169) (9,561) 

Net financing income  44,157 35,404 

Net fees and commission income 18 6,607 5,379 

Net gain from foreign exchange  897 535 

Investment Income 19 4,674 3,444 

Share of results from an associate 7 336 72 

Other income  279 76 

Total operating income  56,950 44,910 

    

Staff cost  (13,202) (12,403) 

General and administrative expenses  (7,744) (6,273) 

Depreciation  (3,800) (4,425) 

Total operating expenses  (24,746) (23,101) 

Profit from operations before impairment loss and other provisions  32,204 21,809 

    

Impairment loss and other provisions 20 (18,158) (8,955) 

Reversal of impairment loss  439 1,290 

Profit from operations  14,485 14,144 

Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)  (130) (127) 

National Labor Support Tax (NLST)  (427) (420) 

Zakat  (156) (157) 

Board of Directors’ remuneration 24 (550) (275) 

Profit for the year  13,222 13,165 

Attributable to:    

Equity holders of the Bank  13,208 13,165 

Non-controlling interests  14 - 

Profit for the year  13,222    13,165 

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable  
to the equity holders of the Bank (Fils) 

 
21 

 
14.15   

14.10 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes from 1 to 27 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income Year ended 31 December 2013

Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. 
State of Kuwait 
 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income  
Year ended 31 December 2013 

5 

  (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 

  31 December 

 Note 2013  2012 

  

Profit for the year  13,222 13,165 

Other comprehensive income:    

Items to be recycled to consolidated statement of profit or loss in future periods    

Financial assets available for sale:    

- Change in fair value  2,988 758 

- Transfer to consolidated statement of profit or loss on impairment 20 664 237 

- Transfer to consolidated statement of profit or loss on sale  (1,368) (474) 

Share of other comprehensive loss of an associate 7 (83) (74) 

Total items to be recycled to consolidated statement of profit or loss in future periods  2,201 447 

    

Item not to be recycled to consolidated statement of profit or loss in future periods    

Revaluation of property and equipment   (1,056) - 

Other comprehensive income for the year included directly in equity  1,145 447 

Total comprehensive income for the year  14,367 13,612 

    

Attributable to:    

Equity holders of the Bank  14,325 13,612 

Non-controlling interests  42 - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  14,367 13,612 

    
 
 
 
The accompanying notes from 1 to 27 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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(K
uw

aiti D
inars in ‘000) 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Share 
capital  

Share 
prem

ium
  Treasury 

shares   Statutory 
reserve  V

oluntary 
reserve  

Fair 
valuation 

reserve

 Revaluation 
surplus   Treasury 

shares 
reserve   Retained 

earnings   
Equity 

attributable 
to equity 

holders  
of the Bank  

N
on-

controlling  
interests  

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity 

 
  

   
 

  
  

  
 

 
 

  
  

 
Balance as at 1 January 2013  

103,732  
49,480  

(45,234)  
26,172  

20,089  
15,104  

16,133  
4,846 

26,251 
216,573 

- 
216,573 

Profit for the year 
-  

-  
-  

-  
-  

-  
  -  

- 
13,208 

13,208 
14 

13,222 
O

ther com
prehensive incom

e 
-  

-  
-  

-  
-  

2,173  
  (1,056)  

- 
- 

1,117  
28 

1,145 
Total com

prehensive incom
e 

-  
-  

-  
-  

-  
2,173  

(1,056)  
- 

13,208 
14,325 

42 
14,367 

D
epreciation transfer for 

land and buildings 
 -  

 -  
 -  

 -  
 -  

 -  
 

(2,162)   
 - 

 
2,162 

 - 
 - 

 - 
A

cquisition of a subsidiary - note11 
-  

-  
-  

-  
-  

-  
-  

- 
- 

- 
2,979 

2,979 
D

ividends - note 14 
-  

-  
-  

-  
-  

-  
-  

- 
(6,536) 

(6,536) 
- 

(6,536) 
Transfer to reserves 

-  
-  

-  
1,447  

1,447  
-  

-  
- 

(2,894) 
- 

- 
- 

Balance as at 31 D
ecem

ber 2013 
103,732   

49,480  
(45,234)  

27,619  
21,536  

17,277  
12,915  

4,846 
32,191 

224,362 
3,021 

227,383 
 

  
  

  
  

  
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

Balance as at 1 January 2012  
103,732  

49,480  
(45,234)  

24,758  
18,675  

14,657  
18,295  

4,846 
18,420 

207,629 
- 

207,629 
Profit for the year 

-  
-  

-  
-  

-  
-  

-  
- 

13,165 
13,165 

- 
13,165 

O
ther com

prehensive incom
e 

-  
-  

-  
-  

-  
447  

-  
- 

- 
447 

-  
447 

Total com
prehensive incom

e 
-  

-  
-  

-  
-  

447  
-  

- 
13,165 

13,612 
- 

13,612 
D

epreciation transfer for  
land and buildings 

 -  
 -  

 -  
 -  

 -  
 -  

 
(2,162)  

 - 
 

2,162 
 - 

 - 
 - 

D
ividends - note 14 

-  
-  

-  
-  

-  
-  

-  
- 

(4,668) 
(4,668) 

- 
(4,668) 

Transfer to reserves 
-  

-  
-  

1,414  
1,414  

-  
-  

- 
(2,828) 

- 
- 

- 
Balance as at 31 D

ecem
ber 2012 

103,732  
49,480  

(45,234)  
26,172  

20,089  
15,104  

16,133  
4,846 

26,251 
216,573 

- 
216,573 

  The accom
panying notes from

 1 to 27 form
 an integral part of these consolidated financial statem

ents. 
  C
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hanges in E

quity - Year ended 31 D
ecem

ber 2013
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Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. 
State of Kuwait 
 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows - Year ended 31 December 2013 
 

7 

  (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
  31 December 
 Note 2013  2012 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
Profit for the year  13,222  13,165 
Adjustments for:    

Dividend income 19 (1,395) (1,125) 
Net gain from foreign exchange   (897) (535) 
Net realised gain from investment securities 19 (1,368) (474) 
Net gain from sale of investment properties 19 (1,058) (1,149) 
Share of results from an associate 7 (336) (72) 
Rental income 19 (853) (696) 
Depreciation  3,800 4,425 
Impairment and other provisions 20 18,158 8,955 
Reversal of impairment loss  (439) (1,290) 

Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities  28,834 21,204 
    
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    
   Due from banks and other financial institutions  12,631 6,153 

Financing receivables  (215,313) (116,592) 
Loans and advances  535 598 
Other assets  (3,139) (2,301) 
Due to banks and other financial institutions  86,467 27,750 
Depositors’ accounts  154,516 90,247 
Other liabilities  3,700 4,152 

Net cash from operating activities  68,231 31,211 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
  Purchase of investment securities  (13,441) (12,603) 
  Proceeds from sale of investments securities  28,140 12,103 
  Acquisition of a subsidiary 11 (3,442) - 
  Proceeds from sale of investment properties  2,850 23,154 
  Purchase of property and equipment  335 (1,623) 
  Dividend income received  1,395 1,125 
  Dividend received from an associate  - 80 
  Proceeds from sale of certain assets from an associate 7 65 226 
  Rental income received  853 696 
Net cash from investing activities  16,755 23,158 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
  Dividends paid  (6,373) (4,546) 
Net cash used in financing activities  (6,373) (4,546) 
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  78,613 49,823 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  304,101 254,278 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER  22 382,714 304,101 
 
 
The accompanying notes from 1 to 27 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended 31 December 2013



55

Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements - 31 December 2013

1. Incorporation and activities

The Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. (the “Bank”) is a public shareholding company incorporated in the State of 
Kuwait on 13 May 1973 as a specialised bank and is regulated by the Central Bank of Kuwait (“CBK”). The Bank’s 
shares are listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange.

In June 2007, the CBK licensed the Bank to operate as an Islamic bank from 1 July 2007. From that date, 
all activities are conducted in accordance with Islamic Shariaá, as approved by the Bank’s Fatwa and Shariaá 
Supervisory Board (the “Board”).

The Board of the Bank is responsible for monitoring the Bank’s compliance with its issued fatwa and resolutions. 
The Board reviews and approves the forms of contracts and agreements after obtaining the necessary information 
to provide its opinion. Random samples of operations related to the Bank’s transactions are reviewed by the 
Shariaá Supervisory department according to the annual Shariaá audit plan for all the departments and through 
the periodic reports provided by the Shariaá Supervisory department about the audit processes, field visits, 
workflow and the validity of implementing the fatwa and resolutions issued by the Board. Accordingly, an annual 
report about the Bank’s compliance with Shariaá fatwa and resolutions is issued according to those fatwa and 
resolutions and it is attached along with the Bank’s annual report and submitted to shareholders in the Annual 
General Assembly.

The Bank is engaged principally in providing Islamic banking services, the purchase and sale of properties, leasing, 
and other trading activities. Trading activities are conducted on the basis of purchasing various commodities and 
selling them on murabaha at negotiated book margin which can be settled in cash or on installment credit basis.

The registered office of the Bank is at West Tower – Joint Banking Center, P.O. Box 22822, Safat 13089,
Kuwait.

The consolidated financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiary (collectively, “the Group”) for the year ended 
31 December 2013 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 10 
February 2014. The Annual General Assembly of the shareholders has the power to amend these consolidated 
financial statements after issuance.

The Companies’ Law issued on 26 November 2012 by Decree Law No. 25 of 2012 (the “Companies’ Law”), which 
was published in the Official Gazette on 29 November 2012, cancelled the Commercial Companies Law No. 15 of 
1960. The Companies Law was subsequently amended on 27 March 2013 by Decree Law No. 97 of 2013. The 
Executive Regulations of the new amended law were issued on 29 September 2013 and were published in the 
official Gazette on 6 October 2013. As per Article three of the Executive Regulations, companies have one year 
from the date of publishing the executive regulations to comply with the new amended law.

2.	 Basis	of	preparation	and	significant	accounting	policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait for financial services institutions regulated by the CBK. 
These regulations require adoption of all IFRS except for the International Accounting Standard ‘(IAS) 39: Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ requirement for collective provision, which has been replaced by the 
CBK’s requirement for a minimum general provision as described under the accounting policies for impairment 
and uncollectibility of financial assets.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for the 
measurement at fair value of financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss or available for sale and 
property and equipment.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars which is the functional currency of the 
Group, rounded to the nearest thousands, except when otherwise stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements - 31 December 2013

2.2	 Changes	in	accounting	policies	and	disclosures
The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with 
those used in the previous year, except for the adoption of the following new or amended IFRS applicable to the 
Group and the adoption of accounting policies on ‘basis of consolidation’ and ‘business combinations’ following 
the acquisition of Ritaj Takaful Insurance Company K.S.C.C. (“Ritaj”) (note 11) during the year:

IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income – Amendments to IAS 1
The Group has applied the amendments to IAS 1 on presentation of items of other comprehensive income for 
the first time in the current year. The amendments introduce new terminology whose use is not mandatory, for the 
statement of comprehensive income and income statement. Under the amendments to IAS 1, the ‘statement of 
comprehensive income’ is renamed as the ‘statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income’ and the 
‘income statement’ is renamed as the ‘statement of profit or loss’. The amendments to IAS 1 retains the option 
to present profit or loss and other comprehensive income in either a single statement or in two separate but 
consecutive statements.

The amendments to IAS 1 also introduces a grouping of items presented in other comprehensive income (OCI). 
Items that could be reclassified (or recycled) to statement of profit or loss at a future point in time (e.g., net gain 
on hedge of net investment, exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, net movement on cash 
flow hedges and net loss or gain on available-for-sale financial assets) now have to be presented separately from 
items that will never be reclassified (e.g., actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans and revaluation of land 
and buildings). The amendment affected presentation only and had no impact on the Group’s financial position 
or performance.

IAS 27 - Separate Financial Statements
IFRS 10 replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the 
accounting for consolidated financial statements. It also addresses the issues raised in SIC-12 Consolidation — 
Special Purpose Entities. The adoption of this standard has not resulted in any impact on the financial position or 
performance of the Group.

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as revised in 2011)
As a consequence of the new IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, 
IAS 28 - Investments in Associates has been renamed IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, 
and describes the application of the equity method to investments in joint ventures in addition to associates. The 
adoption of this standard did not have any material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

IFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Amendments to IFRS 7
These amendments require an entity to disclose information about rights to set-off and related arrangements (e.g., 
collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide users with information that is useful in evaluating the effect of 
netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position. The new disclosures are required for all recognised financial 
instruments that are set off in accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. The disclosures also 
apply to recognised financial instruments that are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar 
agreement, irrespective of whether they are set off in accordance with IAS 32. The adoption of this standard did 
not have any material impact on consolidated financial statements of the Group.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 10 replaces the consolidation guidance in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and 
SIC-12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities by introducing a single consolidation model for all entities based 
on control, irrespective of the nature of the investee (i.e., whether an entity is controlled through voting rights of 
investors or through other contractual arrangements as is common in special purpose entities). Under IFRS 10, 
control is based on whether an investor has;
1) power over the investee;
2) exposure or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
3) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the returns.

The Bank has acquired a subsidiary during the year and accordingly the adoption of IFRS 10 has resulted in
presenting consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements - 31 December 2013

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Involvement with Other Entities
The standard includes all of the disclosures that were previously in IAS 27 related to consolidated financial 
statements, as well as all of the disclosures that were previously included in IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and 
IAS 28 Investment in Associates. These disclosures relate to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 
associates and structured entities. A number of new disclosures are also required. The objective of IFRS 12 
is to require information so that financial statement users may evaluate the basis of control, any restrictions 
on consolidated assets and liabilities, risk exposures arising from involvements with unconsolidated structured 
entities and non-controlling interest holders› involvement in the activities of consolidated entities. The adoption of 
this standard has not resulted in any significant additional disclosures in the consolidated financial statements of 
the Group.

IFRS 13 – Fair value measurement
IFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how to 
measure fair value under IFRS. IFRS 13 defines fair value as an exit price. As a result of the guidance in IFRS 13, 
the Group has re-assessed its policies for measuring fair values. IFRS 13 also requires additional disclosures. 
Application of IFRS 13 has not materially impacted the fair value measurements of the Group. Additional disclosures 
wherever required, are provided in the individual notes relating to the assets and liabilities whose fair values were 
determined.

2.3 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
The following IASB Standards have been issued but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by 
the Group. This listing of standards issued are those that the Group reasonably expects to have an impact on 
disclosures, financial position or performance when applied at a future date. The Group intends to adopt these 
standards when they become effective.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments:
The standard was issued in November 2009, however at the IASB meeting in July 2013, the IASB tentatively 
decided to defer the mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 to be left open. However, IFRS 9 would still be available for 
early application. The standard improves the ability of the users of the financial statements to assess the amount, 
timing and uncertainty of future cash flows of the entity by replacing many financial instrument classification 
categories, measurement and associated impairment methods. The application of IFRS 9 will result in amendments 
and additional disclosures relating to financial instruments and associated risks.

IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
These amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off” and the criteria 
for non-simultaneous settlement mechanisms of clearing houses to qualify for offsetting. These are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

The application of the above standards and interpretations is not expected to have a material impact on the 
financial position or performance of the Group as and when they become effective or early adopted, except for 
IFRS 9 which will result in amendments and/or additional disclosures relating to classification, measurement and 
associated risks of financial instruments.

2.4	 Basis	of	consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiary, Ritaj (note 11).

Business	combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group. The Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:
•	 Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 

investee);
•	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
•	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements - 31 December 2013

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all 
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

•	 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
•	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
•	 The Bank’s voting rights and potential voting rights;
The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
•	 The fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
•	 The recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
•	 If the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the 

acquiree; less
•	 The net recognised amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in consolidated statement of 
profit or loss.

Transactions costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs 
in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Non-controlling	interests
Interest in the equity of subsidiaries not attributable to the Group is reported as non-controlling interests in 
the consolidated statement of financial position. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree is measured at the 
proportionate share in the recognized amount of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Losses are allocated to 
the non-controlling interests even if they exceed the non-controlling interest’s share of equity in the subsidiary. 
Transactions with non-controlling interests are treated as transactions with equity owners of the Group. Gains or 
losses on disposals of non-controlling interests without loss of control are recorded in equity.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Where 
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
in line with those used by the Bank. Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and 
expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Loss	of	control
On loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests 
and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on loss of control 
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous 
subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted 
for as an equity-accounted investee or as a financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.

2.5	 Financial	instruments	-	classification,	recognition,	de-recognition	and	measurement

Classification
As per IAS 39, the Group classifies its financial instruments as “financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”, 
“loans and receivables”, “financial assets available for sale” or “financial liability other than at fair value through 
profit or loss”. Management determines the appropriate classification of each instrument atthe time of acquisition.
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Cash and balances with banks and financial institutions, due from banks and other financial institutions including 
tawarruq, financing receivables, loans and advances and certain other assets are classified as “loans and 
receivables”.

Loans and receivables
These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. The Bank offers Shariaá compliant products and services only such as Murabaha, Istisnaa Ijara and 
Tawarruq which are classified as “loans and receivables” and presented as financing receivables in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. The amount due is settled either by installments or on a deferred payment basis.

Murabaha is a sale agreement for commodities and real estate to “a promise to buy” customer, at a price 
comprising of cost plus agreed profit, after the Bank has acquired the asset.

Istisnaa is a sale contract between a contract owner and a contractor whereby the contractor based on an order 
from the contract owner undertakes to manufacture or otherwise acquire the subject matter of the contract 
according to specifications, and sells it to the contract owner for an agreed upon price and method of settlement 
whether that be in advance, by installments or deferred to a specific future date.

Ijara is a lease agreement between the Bank and customers.

Tawarruq is a sale agreement whereby the customer buys commodities from the Bank on a deferred payment 
basis and then immediately resells it for cash to a third party.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
These are financial assets that are either financial assets held for trading or those designated as fair value through 
profit or loss upon initial recognition. A financial asset is classified in this category only if they are acquired principally 
for the purpose of generating profit from short-term fluctuation in price or if so designated by the management 
in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy and reported to key management 
personnel on that basis.

Financial assets available for sale
These are non-derivative financial assets not included in any of the above classifications and are principally 
acquired to be held for an undefined period of time; which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or 
changes in rates of return or equity prices.

Financial liabilities other than at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities which are not held for trading are classified as “other than at fair value through profit or loss”.

Financial liabilities include due to banks and other financial institutions and depositors’ accounts created by 
Mudaraba and Wakala contracts. Mudaraba represents an agreement whereby the Bank and the customer share 
an agreed percentage of any profit earned on customers’ investments as agreed. Wakala represents an agreement 
whereby the Bank aims to provide a certain rate of return for the transactions entered on behalf of the customer.

Recognition and de-recognition
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised using settlement date accounting i.e. the 
date that the Group receives or delivers the assets. Changes in fair value between the trade date and settlement 
date are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, or in consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income in accordance with the policy applicable to the related instrument.

Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the 
time frame generally established by regulations or conventions in the market place.
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A financial asset is de-recognised (in whole or in part) where:
•	 the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired, or
•	 the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them 

in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement or
•	 the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is 
recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes 
the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the 
asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability.

The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Measurement
All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value of the consideration given plus transaction costs 
except for financial assets classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs on 
financial assets classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

On subsequent measurement financial assets classified as “investments at fair value through profit or loss” are 
measured and carried at fair value. Realised and unrealised gains/ losses arising from changes in fair value are 
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. “Loans and receivables” are carried at amortised cost 
using effective yield method, less any provision for impairment. Those classified as “investments available for sale” 
are subsequently measured at fair value until the investment is sold or otherwise disposed of, or the investment is 
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in other comprehensive 
income is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year.

“Financial liabilities other than at fair value through profit or loss” are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Fair	values
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

•	 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
•	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement as a whole:



61

Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements - 31 December 2013

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
              directly or indirectly observable.
Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
              unobservable.
For financial instruments quoted in an active market, fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices. 
Bid prices are used for assets and offer prices are used for liabilities. The fair value of investments in mutual funds, 
unit trusts or similar investment vehicles are based on the last published net assets value.

For unquoted financial instruments fair value is determined by reference to the market value of a similar investment, 
discounted cash flows, other appropriate valuation models or brokers’ quotes.

For financial instruments carried at amortised cost, the fair value is estimated by discounting future cash flows at 
the current market rate of return for similar financial instruments.

For investments in equity instruments, where a reasonable estimate of fair value cannot be determined, the 
investment is carried at cost.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each 
reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of 
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

Impairment	and	uncollectibility	of	financial	assets
An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a specific 
financial asset or a group of similar financial assets may be impaired as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of those assets and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets, that can be reliably measured. If such evidence exists, any 
impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Impairment is determined as follows:
a. for financial assets carried at amortised cost, impairment is the difference between the carrying value and the 

present value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the original effective profit rate.

b. for financial assets carried at fair value, impairment is the difference between cost and fair value.
c. for financial assets carried at cost, impairment is the difference between the carrying value and present value 

of future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

Reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years is recorded when there is an indication that the impairment 
losses recognised for the asset no longer exist or have decreased and the decrease can be related objectively to 
an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. Except for equity instrument classified as available 
for sale, reversal of impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent 
the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. For available for sale equity 
investments, reversals of impairment losses are recorded as increases through consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and comprehensive income.

Financial assets are written off when there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

General provision
In accordance with the CBK instructions, a minimum general provision is made on all applicable credit facilities (net 
of certain categories of collateral) that are not provided for specifically. In March 2007, the CBK issued a circular 
amending the basis of making minimum general provisions on facilities changing the rate from 2% to 1% for cash 
facilities and 0.5% for non-cash facilities. The required rates were to be applied effective from 1 January 2007 on 
the net increase in facilities, net of certain categories of collateral during the reporting period.

The minimum general provision in excess of the present 1% for cash facilities and 0.5% for non-cash facilities is 
retained as a general provision until further directive from the CBK.
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Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement 
of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and the Group 
intends to settle on a net basis.

Collateral	pending	sale
The Group occasionally acquires non-monetary assets in settlement of certain financing receivables and loans and 
advances. Such assets are stated at the lower of the carrying value of the related financing receivables and loans 
and advances and the current fair value of such assets. Gains or losses on disposal, and revaluation losses, are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial	guarantees
In the ordinary course of business, the Group provides financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit, 
guarantees and acceptances. Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the consolidated financial statements 
at fair value, being the premium received, in other liabilities. The premium received is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss in ‘fees and commission income’ on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. 
Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the present obligation at the reporting date and the amount recognized less cumulative amortization. When a 
payment under the guarantee is likely to become payable, the present value of the expected net payments less 
the unamortised premium, is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantees and letter of credit are assessed and provision for impairment is made in a similar manner to 
that for financing receivables.

2.6	 Investment	in	associates
An associate is an entity over which the Bank exerts significant influence. Investment in associates is accounted 
for under the equity method of accounting. Where an associate is acquired and held exclusively for resale, it is 
accounted for as a non-current asset held for resale under IFRS 5.

Under the equity method, the investment in associate is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for 
the post-acquisition change in the Bank’s share of the associate’s net assets. Goodwill relating to an associate is 
included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. 
The Bank recognises in the consolidated statement of profit or loss its share of the total recognised profit or loss 
of the associate from the date that influence or ownership effectively commenced until the date that it effectively 
ceases. Distributions received from the associate reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Adjustments to 
the carrying amount may also be necessary for changes in Bank’s share in the associate arising from changes in 
the associate’s equity that have not been recognised in the associate’s income statement. The Bank’s share of 
those changes is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income.

Unrealised gains on transactions with associates are eliminated to the extent of the Bank’s share in the associate. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment in the asset 
transferred. An assessment for impairment of investments in associates is performed when there is an indication 
that the asset has been impaired, or that impairment losses recognised in prior years no longer exist. If such 
indication exists, the Bank estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount 
since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset 
does not exceed its recoverable amount had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. 
Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The associate’s financial statements are prepared either to the Bank’s reporting date or to a date not earlier than 
three months of the Bank’s reporting date using consistent accounting policies. Where practicable, adjustments 
are made for the effects of significant transactions or other events that occur between the reporting date of the 
associates and the Bank’s reporting date.
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2.7	 Investment	properties
Land and buildings, held for long-term capital appreciation and rental yields, and not occupied by the Group, are 
classified as investment properties. These also include properties acquired by the Group in settlement of financing 
receivables. Investment properties are carried at cost which includes purchase price and transaction costs less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation is computed on a 
straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of 20 years. The fair value is determined periodically by external valuers.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each year end. The 
carrying amount of each item is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount and the 
impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Impairment is tested at the lowest 
level of the cash generating unit (CGU) to which the item belongs.

An investment property is derecognised when either it has been disposed of, or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses 
on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss in the period of retirement or disposal.

2.8	 Property	and	equipment
Land and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and impairment losses 
recognised after the date of the revaluation. Valuations are performed annually to ensure that the fair value of a 
revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount.

Any revaluation change is credited to the revaluation surplus reserve in equity, except to the extent that it reverses 
a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, 
in which case the increase is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus 
on the same asset recognised in the revaluation surplus reserve.

An annual transfer from the revaluation surplus reserve to retained earnings is made for the difference between 
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the assets and depreciation based on the asset’s original 
cost. Additionally, accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings.
The useful life of buildings is estimated to be 20 years.

Computer and other equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
loss. Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3-5 years.

2.9	 Post-employment	benefits
The Group is liable under Kuwait Labour Law to make payments under defined benefit plans to employees at 
cessation of employment. The defined benefit plan is unfunded and is based on the liability that would arise 
on involuntary termination of all employees on the reporting date. This basis is considered to be a reliable 
approximation of the present value of this liability.

2.10	 Treasury	shares
The Bank’s holding in its own shares is stated at acquisition cost and is recognised in equity. The treasury shares 
are accounted for using the cost method. Under this method, the weighted average cost of the shares reacquired 
is charged to a contra account in the equity. When the treasury shares are sold, gains are credited to a separate 
account in equity, “treasury shares reserve”, which is not distributable. Any realised losses are charged to the 
same account to the extent of the credit balance on that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained 
earnings then to the voluntary reserve and statutory reserve. Gains realised subsequently on the sale of treasury 
shares are first used to offset any previously recorded losses in the order of reserves, retained earnings and the 
treasury shares reserve account. These shares are not entitled to any cash dividend that the Bank may propose. 
The issue of bonus shares increases the number of shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share 
without affecting the total cost of treasury shares.
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2.11							Revenue	recognition
Income from Murabaha and Istisnaa are recognised on an effective yield basis which is established on initial 
recognition of the asset and is not revised subsequently.

Income from Ijara is recognised over the term of the Ijara agreement to yield a constant rate of return on the net 
investment outstanding.

The calculation of the effective yield includes all fees paid or received, transactions costs and discounts or 
premiums that are an integral part of the effective yield.

Fees and commission income that relate mainly to transaction and service fees is recognised as the related 
services are performed.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. Other fees are recognised as the 
services are provided.

Rental income from investment properties is recognised on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.
Once a financial instrument categorised as “financing receivables” is written down to its estimated recoverable 
amount, related income is thereafter recognised on the unimpaired portion based on the original effective yield rate 
that was used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the recoverable amount.

2.12							Impairment	of	non-financial	assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value 
less costs to sell and its value in use. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair 
value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation 
multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

For non-financial assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there 
is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If 
such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying 
amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceeds the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such 
reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

2.13       Provisions
Provisions are recognised when, as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources 
will be required to settle a present, legal or constructive obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated.

2.14							Foreign	currency
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at rates of exchange ruling at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets 
and liabilities in foreign currencies outstanding at the year-end are translated into Kuwaiti Dinars at rates of exchange 
ruling at the reporting date. Any resultant gains or losses are taken to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates 
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Translation difference on non-monetary items classified 
as “at fair value through profit or loss” are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss whereas, where as those on non-monetary items classified as “available for sale” 
financial assets are included in consolidated statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income.

2.15							Cash	and	cash	equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes, cash and balances 
with banks and financial institutions (as set out in Note 3), Tawarruq transactions with CBK and Murabaha finance 
with other banks and financial institutions with a contractual maturity of 90 days or less.
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2.16       Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved by 
the Bank’s shareholders.

Dividends for the year that are approved after the reporting date are disclosed as an event after the reporting date.

2.17							Statutory	contributions

Kuwait	Foundation	for	the	Advancement	of	Sciences	(KFAS)
The Group calculates the contribution to KFAS at 1% in accordance with the calculation based on the Foundation’s 
Board of Directors resolution, which states that the transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from profit for 
the year when determining the contribution.

National	Labour	Support	Tax	(NLST)
The Group calculates the NLST in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance Resolutions 
No. 24 of 2006 at 2.5% of taxable profit for the year. Cash dividends from listed companies which are subjected 
to NLST are deducted from the profit for the year to determine the taxable profit.

Zakat
Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit in accordance with the Ministry of Finance resolution No. 58/2007.

2.18       Contingencies
Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow 
of economic benefit is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed unless
the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefit is remote.

2.19							Segment	information
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it earns 
revenues and incurs costs. The operating segments are used by the management of the Group to allocate 
resources and assess performance. Operating segments exhibiting similar economic characteristics, product and 
services and class of customers are appropriately aggregated and reported as reportable
segments.

2.20							Significant	accounting	judgments,	estimates	and	assumptions
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
accompanying disclosures, as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions 
and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or 
liabilities affected in future periods.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, 
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements:

Classification of investments
On acquisition of an investment, the Group decides whether it should be classified as “financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss” or “financial assets available for sale”.

The Group classifies investments as ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ if they are acquired 
primarily for the purpose of short term profit making or if they are managed and their performance is evaluated 
on a reliable fair value basis in accordance with a documented investment strategy. All other investments are 
classified as “available for sale”.
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Impairment of financial assets available for sale 

The Group treats "financial assets available for sale" equity investments as impaired when there has been a 
significant or prolonged decline in their fair value below their cost. The determination of what is 
"significant" or "prolonged" requires significant judgement. In addition, the Group also evaluates among 
other factors, normal volatility in the share price for quoted equities and the future cash flows and the 
discount factors for unquoted equities. Impairment may be considered appropriate when there is evidence 
of deterioration in the financial position of the investee, industry and sector performance; changes in 
technology and operational and financing cash flows. 

Classification of real estate 

Management decides on acquisition of a real estate whether it should be classified as trading or investment 
property.  

The Group classifies property as “trading property” if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course 
of business. 

The Group classifies property as “investment properties” if it is acquired to generate rental income or for 
capital appreciation, or for undetermined future use. 

The Group classifies property as “property under development” if it is acquired with the intention of 
development. 

Estimation uncertainty and assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 

Impairment losses on financing receivables, loans and advances and investments in debt instruments 

The Group reviews problem loans, financing receivables and investments in debt instruments on a regular 
basis to assess whether a provision for impairment should be recorded in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. In particular, considerable judgement by management is required in the estimation of the 
amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of provisions required. Such estimates 
are necessarily based on assumptions about several factors involving varying degrees of judgement and 
uncertainty. 

Valuation of unquoted equity investments 

Valuation techniques for unquoted investment securities includes estimates such as expected cash flows 
discounted at current rates applicable for items with similar terms and risk characteristics; recent arm’s 
length market transactions; current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; or 
valuation models. 

Any changes in these estimates and assumptions as well as the use of different, but equally reasonable 
estimates and assumptions may have an impact on the carrying value of financing receivables and fair 
values of unquoted equity investments. 

3. Cash and balances with banks and financial institutions 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Cash on hand 7,675  5,172 
Current accounts with other banks and financial institutions 10,317  12,148 
Balances with CBK 8,373  1,304 
 26,365  18,624 
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Impairment of financial assets available for sale
The Group treats “financial assets available for sale” equity investments as impaired when there has been a 
significant or prolonged decline in their fair value below their cost. The determination of what is “significant” or 
“prolonged” requires significant judgement. In addition, the Group also evaluates among other factors, normal 
volatility in the share price for quoted equities and the future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted 
equities. Impairment may be considered appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial 
position of the investee, industry and sector performance; changes in technology and operational and financing 
cash flows.

Classification of real estate
Management decides on acquisition of a real estate whether it should be classified as trading or investment property.
The Group classifies property as “trading property” if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course of 
business.
The Group classifies property as “investment properties” if it is acquired to generate rental income or for capital 
appreciation, or for undetermined future use.
The Group classifies property as “property under development” if it is acquired with the intention of development.

Estimation	uncertainty	and	assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are discussed below:

Impairment losses on financing receivables, loans and advances and investments in debt instruments
The Group reviews problem loans, financing receivables and investments in debt instruments on a regular basis 
to assess whether a provision for impairment should be recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
In particular, considerable judgement by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of 
future cash flows when determining the level of provisions required. Such estimates are necessarily based on 
assumptions about several factors involving varying degrees of judgement and uncertainty.

Valuation of unquoted equity investments
Valuation techniques for unquoted investment securities includes estimates such as expected cash flows 
discounted at current rates applicable for items with similar terms and risk characteristics; recent arm’s length 
market transactions; current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; or valuation models.

Any changes in these estimates and assumptions as well as the use of different, but equally reasonable estimates 
and assumptions may have an impact on the carrying value of financing receivables and fair values of unquoted 
equity investments.

3.											Cash	and	balances	with	banks	and	financial	institutions
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4.											Due	from	banks	and	other	financial	institutions

5.											Financing	receivables	and	loans	and	advances
Financing receivables comprise of facilities extended to the customers of the Bank in the form of Murabaha and 
Ijara contracts. Wherever necessary, financing receivables are secured by acceptable forms of collateral to mitigate 
the related credit risk. Financing receivables and loans and advances comprise the following:

Loans and advances
This represents conventional banking facilities with the Bank’s customers which remained outstanding after 
conversion to an Islamic bank. The Bank has converted these facilities to comply with Islamic Shariaá. The interest 
earned from these loans from the date of conversion to Islamic bank was suspended and is included in donation 
payable account (note 13).

Further analysis of financing receivables and loans and advances based on class of financial asset is given below:
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4. Due from banks and other financial institutions  
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Tawarruq transactions with Central Bank of Kuwait 292,966  235,560 
Murabaha finance with other banks and financial institutions 
(contractual maturity of 90 days or less) 

 
63,383 

 
 49,917 

Murabaha finance with other banks and financial institutions 
(contractual maturity of more than 90 days) 

 
5,392 

 
 14,297 

 361,741  299,774 

5. Financing receivables and loans and advances  

Financing receivables comprise of facilities extended to the customers of the Bank in the form of Murabaha 
and Ijara contracts. Wherever necessary, financing receivables are secured by acceptable forms of collateral 
to mitigate the related credit risk. Financing receivables and loans and advances comprise the following:  

 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
Financing receivables    
Murabaha receivables 890,978 692,631 
Ijara receivables 170,198 160,397 
Other receivables 16,804 15,845 
 1,077,980 868,873 
Less: Deferred profit (63,916) (54,614) 
Net receivables 1,014,064 814,259 
Less: provision for impairment (34,273) (32,971) 
 979,791 781,288 

 Loans and advances 

This represents conventional banking facilities with the Bank’s customers which remained outstanding after 
conversion to an Islamic bank. The Bank has converted these facilities to comply with Islamic Shariaá. The 
interest earned from these loans from the date of conversion to Islamic bank was suspended and is included 
in donation payable account (note 13). 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Corporate loans - 519 
Consumer and installment loans - 151 
 - 670 
Less: provision for impairment - (135) 
 - 535 

Further analysis of financing receivables and loans and advances based on class of financial asset is given 
below:  
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Corporate  828,613 652,815 
Retail 185,451 162,114 
 1,014,064 814,929 
Less: provision for impairment (34,273) (33,106) 
 979,791 781,823 
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Movement in provision for impairment: 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 2013  2012 

 Specific 
provision 

 General 
provision 

  
Total 

 Specific 
provision 

 General 
provision 

    Total 
 

            
Balance as at 1 January 9,822  23,284  33,106 9,936  17,791  27,727 
Provision charged (note 20) 6,841  10,151  16,992 2,728  5,493  8,221 
Amounts written off  (15,916)  -  (15,916) (3,111)  -  (3,111) 
Reclassification of provision 7,573  (7,573)  - 857  -  857 
Reversal of provision on settlement -  -  - (130)  -  (130) 
Reclassified from/ to non-cash 40  51  91 (458)  -  (458) 
Balance as at 31 December 8,360  25,913  34,273 9,822  23,284  33,106 

The management believes that the impairment provision for credit facilities complies in all material respects 
with the specific provision requirements of the CBK. The surplus general provision arising on the change in 
the general provision rate in March 2007 amounts to KD 5,044 thousand and is retained as general 
provision until further directive from the CBK. 

Provision on non-cash credit facilities of KD 3,239 thousand (2012: KD 3,525 thousand) is included in other 
liabilities (note 13). 

Under the terms of Amiri Decree No. 32 of 1992, 41 of 1993 and subsequent amendments, any recovery of 
provisions made as at 31 December 1991 on loans and advances, financing receivables and investments as 
at that date, which were not purchased under the decree, are required to be ceded to the CBK. During the 
year, the Bank recovered KD 6,322 (2012: nil) against these balances which has been ceded to the CBK. 

At 31 December 2013, financing receivables and loans and advances on which profits or interest is not 
being accrued, or is suspended, amounted to KD 62,338 thousand (2012: KD 58,987 thousand). 
Unrecognised profit or interest relating to such financing receivables and loans and advances amounted to 
KD 2,170 thousand (2012: KD 2,068 thousand).  

6. Investment securities  
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:    
Quoted securities  -  1,627 
Financial assets available for sale:    
Quoted securities 15,146  4,488 
Unquoted funds 492  3,412 
Unquoted securities 33,117  27,822 
Investment in sukuk 8,844  31,753 
 57,599  67,475 
 57,599  69,102 

At 31 December 2013, certain unquoted financial assets available for sale amounting to KD 445 thousand 
(2012: KD 731 thousand) are carried at cost due to non-availability of quoted market prices or other reliable 
measures of their fair values. Management believes there is no impairment in their value. 

Investment securities at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2012 included conventional 
investments of KD 1,627 thousand. During the current year, the Group sold all its conventional investments 
after approval from CBK to a related party. Accordingly, the Bank does not hold any conventional 
investment at the reporting date. 
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Movement in provision for impairment:

The management believes that the impairment provision for credit facilities complies in all material respects with 
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6.	 Investment	securities
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At 31 December 2013, certain unquoted financial assets available for sale amounting to KD 445 thousand (2012: 
KD 731 thousand) are carried at cost due to non-availability of quoted market prices or other reliable measures of 
their fair values. Management believes there is no impairment in their value.

Investment securities at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2012 included conventional investments 
of KD 1,627 thousand. During the current year, the Group sold all its conventional investments after approval from 
CBK to a related party. Accordingly, the Bank does not hold any conventional investment at the reporting date.

7.	 Investment	in	associates

During the year, the Group obtained control over Ritaj following the acquisition of an additional 33.6% equity interest 
(note 11). Accordingly, investment in Ritaj has been consolidated in the Group’s consolidated financial statements 
from the date the Group obtained control.

There were no published price quotations for any of the associates of the Group. Furthermore, there are no 
significant restrictions on the ability of the associates to transfer funds to the Bank in the form of cash dividends, or 
repayment of loans or advances.

During the years 2005 and 2006, the Group wrote down the value of its investment in The Financial Group of Kuwait 
KSCC (“FGK”) to KD Nil which was then fully written off during the year ended 31 December 2010.

The Group retains a provision of KD 521 thousand (2012: KD 521 thousand) as reliable financial information about 
FGK’s financial position as of 31 December 2013 is not available.

During the current year, the Group received KD 65 thousand (2012: KD 226 thousand) from FGK which represents 
the Group’s share of proceeds from sale of certain assets of FGK.
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7. Investment in associates 

 Country of 
incorporation  Principal activity  % of 

holding  (Kuwaiti Dinars 
in ‘000) 

     2013  2012  2013  2012 
            
The Financial Group of Kuwait KSCC Kuwait  Financial institution  50 50  -   -  
Kuwait Projects Company for 
Contracting and Building SAK (Closed) 

 
Kuwait   

Contracting   
50 

 
50  -   - 

Ritaj Takaful Insurance Company KSCC Kuwait  Insurance  - 40  -  5,004 
        -  5,004 

 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Balance as at 1 January 5,004 5,086 
Share of results 336 72 
Share of other comprehensive income (83) (74) 
Reversal of impairment loss 65 226 
Dividend received - (80) 
Share of proceeds from sale of certain assets of an associate (65) (226) 
Disposal (5,257) - 
Balance as at 31 December - 5,004 

During the year, the Group obtained control over Ritaj following the acquisition of an additional 33.6% 
equity interest (note 11). Accordingly, investment in Ritaj has been consolidated in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements from the date the Group obtained control. 

There were no published price quotations for any of the associates of the Group. Furthermore, there are no 
significant restrictions on the ability of the associates to transfer funds to the Bank in the form of cash 
dividends, or repayment of loans or advances. 

During the years 2005 and 2006, the Group wrote down the value of its investment in The Financial Group 
of Kuwait KSCC (“FGK”) to KD Nil which was then fully written off during the year ended 31 December 
2010. The Group retains a provision of KD 521 thousand (2012: KD 521 thousand) as reliable financial 
information about FGK’s financial position as of 31 December 2013 is not available.  

During the current year, the Group received KD 65 thousand (2012: KD 226 thousand) from FGK which 
represents the Group’s share of proceeds from sale of certain assets of FGK. 

8. Investment properties 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
  
Balance as at 1 January 44,881 49,100 
Acquired in settlement of financing receivables  - 18,870 
On acquisition of Ritaj (note 11) 3,190 -     
Disposal (1,792) (22,005) 
Depreciation (610) (1,013) 
Impairment loss (note 20) - (71) 
Balance as at 31 December 45,669 44,881 

The fair value of investment properties as at 31 December 2013 is KD 51,587 thousand (2012: KD 48,997 
thousand) which was determined by independent valuers who have appropriate qualifications and recent 
experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant locations. The fair values were determined based on 
market approach. In estimating the fair values of the properties, the highest and the best use of the properties 
is their current use. There has been no change to the valuation techniques during the year.  
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During the year, investment properties amounting to KD 1,792 thousand (2012: 22,005 thousand) were 
disposed off against a cash consideration of KD 2,850 thousand (2012: 23,154 thousand) resulting in a net 
gain of KD 1,058 thousand (2012: 1,149 thousand).  

9. Property and equipment 

Freehold land and buildings were revalued on 31 December 2013 at KD 18,177 thousand (2012:              
KD 19,927 thousand) using the average of the fair values determined by two external valuers who have 
appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant locations. The 
fair values were determined based on market approach and are included in level 2 of the fair value 
hierarchy. In estimating the fair values of the properties, the highest and the best use of the properties is their 
current use. There has been no change to the valuation techniques during the year.  

If buildings had been carried at cost less depreciation, the net carrying amount that would have been 
included in the consolidated financial statements is KD 6,920 thousand (2012: KD 6,644 thousand). 

10. Due to banks and other financial institutions 
  (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Murabaha payable to banks 100,417  29,358 
Murabaha payable to other financial institutions 195,467  189,422 
Current and call accounts from banks and other financial institutions  9,257  3,154 
 305,141  221,934 
 

11. Business combination 

During August 2013, the Group acquired an additional 33.6% equity interest in Ritaj (previously an 
associate) for a purchase consideration of KD 3,730 thousand, following which its equity interest in Ritaj 
increased to 73.60%. As a result of this acquisition, Ritaj became a subsidiary of the Bank and has been 
consolidated from the date of exercise of control.  

The acquisition has been accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3: Business combinations (“IFRS 3”). The 
Group recognized a loss of KD 687 thousand on the fair valuation of its previously held equity interest in 
Ritaj which has been included in impairment loss and other provisions. 

The consideration paid and the provisional values assigned to the identifiable assets and liabilities as of the 
date of acquisition are as follows: 

 
Kuwaiti Dinars 

in ‘000 
Assets  
Cash and balances with banks and financial institutions 288 
Due from banks and other financial institutions 4,070 
Investment securities 1,034 
Investment properties (note 8) 3,190 
Other assets 3,505 
Property and equipment 23 
 12,110 
Liabilities  
Other liabilities (827) 
Approximate provisional value of net identifiable assets acquired  11,283 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.	 Investment	properties

The fair value of investment properties as at 31 December 2013 is KD 51,587 thousand (2012: KD 48,997 thousand) 
which was determined by independent valuers who have appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the 
valuation of properties in the relevant locations. The fair values were determined based on market approach. In 
estimating the fair values of the properties, the highest and the best use of the properties is their current use. There 
has been no change to the valuation techniques during the year.

During the year, investment properties amounting to KD 1,792 thousand (2012: 22,005 thousand) were disposed 
off against a cash consideration of KD 2,850 thousand (2012: 23,154 thousand) resulting in a net gain of KD 1,058 
thousand (2012: 1,149 thousand).

9.	 Property	and	equipment

Freehold land and buildings were revalued on 31 December 2013 at KD 18,177 thousand (2012: KD 19,927 
thousand) using the average of the fair values determined by two external valuers who have appropriate qualifications 
and recent experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant locations. The fair values were determined 
based on market approach and are included in level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. In estimating the fair values of the 
properties, the highest and the best use of the properties is their current use. There has been no change to the 
valuation techniques during the year.

If buildings had been carried at cost less depreciation, the net carrying amount that would have been included in 
the consolidated financial statements is KD 6,920 thousand (2012: KD 6,644 thousand).

10.	 Due	to	banks	and	other	financial	institutions

11.									Business	combination

During August 2013, the Group acquired an additional 33.6% equity interest in Ritaj (previously an associate) for 
a purchase consideration of KD 3,730 thousand, following which its equity interest in Ritaj increased to 73.60%. 
As a result of this acquisition, Ritaj became a subsidiary of the Bank and has been consolidated from the date of 
exercise of control.

The acquisition has been accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3: Business combinations (“IFRS 3”). The Group 
recognized a loss of KD 687 thousand on the fair valuation of its previously held equity interest in Ritaj which has 
been included in impairment loss and other provisions. The consideration paid and the provisional values assigned 
to the identifiable assets and liabilities as of the date of acquisition are as follows:
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During the year, investment properties amounting to KD 1,792 thousand (2012: 22,005 thousand) were 
disposed off against a cash consideration of KD 2,850 thousand (2012: 23,154 thousand) resulting in a net 
gain of KD 1,058 thousand (2012: 1,149 thousand).  
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10. Due to banks and other financial institutions 
  (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Murabaha payable to banks 100,417  29,358 
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During August 2013, the Group acquired an additional 33.6% equity interest in Ritaj (previously an 
associate) for a purchase consideration of KD 3,730 thousand, following which its equity interest in Ritaj 
increased to 73.60%. As a result of this acquisition, Ritaj became a subsidiary of the Bank and has been 
consolidated from the date of exercise of control.  

The acquisition has been accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3: Business combinations (“IFRS 3”). The 
Group recognized a loss of KD 687 thousand on the fair valuation of its previously held equity interest in 
Ritaj which has been included in impairment loss and other provisions. 

The consideration paid and the provisional values assigned to the identifiable assets and liabilities as of the 
date of acquisition are as follows: 

 
Kuwaiti Dinars 

in ‘000 
Assets  
Cash and balances with banks and financial institutions 288 
Due from banks and other financial institutions 4,070 
Investment securities 1,034 
Investment properties (note 8) 3,190 
Other assets 3,505 
Property and equipment 23 
 12,110 
Liabilities  
Other liabilities (827) 
Approximate provisional value of net identifiable assets acquired  11,283 
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Ritaj has been consolidated based on the provisional values assigned to the identifiable assets and liabilities as on 
the acquisition date, since the management is in the process of determining the fair value of assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed.

From the date of acquisition, Ritaj has contributed KD 39 thousand to the consolidated profit of the Group. Had 
the acquisition taken place at the beginning of the year, Group income for the year would have been higher by KD 
159 thousand amounting to a total of KD 57,058 thousand and the profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank 
would have been higher by KD 104 thousand amounting to a total of KD 15,221 thousand.

12.									Depositors’	accounts
Depositors’ accounts represent deposits received from customers under Mudaraba and Wakala contracts.

13.									Other	liabilities

Donations payable include gains and losses from conventional investments and interest income less interest 
expense on facilities with the Group’s customers on conventional banking terms. In accordance with the directions 
of the Fatwa and Shariaá Supervisory Board, this amount is included in consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and then transferred to donations payable as these customers have not yet committed to convert their facilities to 
Islamic Shariaá compliant products.

14.									Shareholders’	equity

a)	 Share	capital
The authorised, issued and paid up capital of the Bank comprises 1,037,326,672 ordinary shares of 100 fils each 
(2012: 1,037,326,672 shares of 100 fils each).
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Kuwaiti Dinars 

in ‘000 
  
Purchase consideration 3,730 
Non-controlling interest  2,979 
Fair value of Group’s previously held equity interest 4,574 
 11,283 
Provisional goodwill - 
  
Purchase consideration paid in cash 3,730 
Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired (288) 
Cash outflow on acquisition 3,442 

Ritaj has been consolidated based on the provisional values assigned to the identifiable assets and liabilities 
as on the acquisition date, since the management is in the process of determining the fair value of assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. 

From the date of acquisition, Ritaj has contributed KD 39 thousand to the consolidated profit of the Group. 
Had the acquisition taken place at the beginning of the year, Group income for the year would have been 
higher by KD 159 thousand amounting to a total of KD 57,058 thousand and the profit attributable to 
equity holders of the Bank would have been higher by KD 104 thousand amounting to a total of KD 15,221 
thousand. 

12. Depositors’ accounts 

Depositors’ accounts represent deposits received from customers under Mudaraba and Wakala contracts. 

13. Other liabilities 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 

    
Depositors’ profit payable 1,735  1,543 
Donation payable 365  356 
Provision on non-cash credit facilities (note 5) 3,239  3,525 
Provision for staff indemnity 5,952  5,491 
Others 20,356  15,318 
 31,647  26,233 

Donations payable include gains and losses from conventional investments and interest income less interest 
expense on facilities with the Group’s customers on conventional banking terms. In accordance with the 
directions of the Fatwa and Shariaá Supervisory Board, this amount is included in consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and then transferred to donations payable as these customers have not yet committed to 
convert their facilities to Islamic Shariaá compliant products. 

14. Shareholders’ equity 

a) Share capital 

The authorised, issued and paid up capital of the Bank comprises 1,037,326,672 ordinary shares of 100 
fils each (2012: 1,037,326,672 shares of 100 fils each).  

b) Treasury shares 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Number of treasury shares ('000) 103,638  103,638 
Percentage of treasury shares 9.99%  9.99% 
Cost of shares (KD '000) 45,234  45,234 
Market value of shares (KD '000) 30,055  30,573 
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a) Share capital 

The authorised, issued and paid up capital of the Bank comprises 1,037,326,672 ordinary shares of 100 
fils each (2012: 1,037,326,672 shares of 100 fils each).  

b) Treasury shares 
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Percentage of treasury shares 9.99%  9.99% 
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Market value of shares (KD '000) 30,055  30,573 
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The Board of Directors has been authorised by the shareholders to purchase treasury shares up to a 
maximum of 10% of the share capital of the Bank. Reserves equivalent to the cost of the treasury shares 
held are not available for distribution. 

c) Dividends 

The Board of Directors’ meeting held on 10 February 2014 recommended the distribution of cash 
dividend of 7 fils per share (2012: 7 fils per share) on outstanding shares (excluding treasury shares) in 
respect of the year ended 31 December 2013. This proposal is subject to the approval by the 
shareholders’ Annual General Assembly.  

The cash dividends for the year ended 31 December 2012 were approved by the shareholders at the 
Annual General Assembly held on 20 March 2013. 

15. Reserves 

In accordance with the Companies Law as amended and the Articles of Association, the Group is required to 
transfer to statutory reserve, 10% of the profit for the year before contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and 
directors’ remuneration. Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the 
payment of a dividend of 5% of share capital in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the 
payment of a dividend of that amount. The Bank has transferred KD 1,447 thousand to the statutory reserve 
for the year ended 31 December 2013. 

In accordance with the Bank’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit for the year before contribution to 
KFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration is required to be transferred to voluntary reserve. Such 
annual transfers may be discontinued by a resolution of the Group’s shareholders Annual General Assembly 
upon a recommendation by the Board of Directors. Voluntary reserve is available for distribution. The Bank 
has transferred KD 1,447 thousand to the voluntary reserve for the year ended 31 December 2013. 

The share premium account and treasury shares reserve are not available for distribution. 

The revaluation surplus represents the surplus of market value over carrying value of freehold land and 
buildings (net of incremental depreciation). The balance in this reserve will be directly transferred to 
retained earnings on disposal of the underlying assets. 

16. Murabaha and other islamic financing income  
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Income from Murabaha 42,684  36,016 
Income from Ijara 8,332  7,848 
Income from sukuk 310  1,101 
 51,326  44,965 

17. Distribution to depositors  

The Board of Directors of the Bank determined the depositors’ share of profit based on the results for the 
year. 

18. Net fees and commission income 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Fees and commission income 6,652  5,544 
Fees and commission expense (45)  (165) 
Net fees and commission income 6,607  5,379 
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expense on facilities with the Group’s customers on conventional banking terms. In accordance with the 
directions of the Fatwa and Shariaá Supervisory Board, this amount is included in consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and then transferred to donations payable as these customers have not yet committed to 
convert their facilities to Islamic Shariaá compliant products. 

14. Shareholders’ equity 

a) Share capital 

The authorised, issued and paid up capital of the Bank comprises 1,037,326,672 ordinary shares of 100 
fils each (2012: 1,037,326,672 shares of 100 fils each).  

b) Treasury shares 
 31 December 
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Number of treasury shares ('000) 103,638  103,638 
Percentage of treasury shares 9.99%  9.99% 
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b)	 Treasury	shares

The Board of Directors has been authorised by the shareholders to purchase treasury shares up to a maximum of 
10% of the share capital of the Bank. Reserves equivalent to the cost of the treasury shares held are not available 
for distribution.

c)											Dividends

The Board of Directors’ meeting held on 10 February 2014 recommended the distribution of cash dividend of 7 fils 
per share (2012: 7 fils per share) on outstanding shares (excluding treasury shares) in respect of the year ended 31 
December 2013. This proposal is subject to the approval by the shareholders’ Annual General Assembly.

The cash dividends for the year ended 31 December 2012 were approved by the shareholders at the Annual 
General Assembly held on 20 March 2013.

15.         Reserves

In accordance with the Companies Law as amended and the Articles of Association, the Group is required to 
transfer to statutory reserve, 10% of the profit for the year before contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ 
remuneration. Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a 
dividend of 5% of share capital in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of a dividend 
of that amount. The Bank has transferred KD 1,447 thousand to the statutory reserve for the year ended 31 
December 2013.

In accordance with the Bank’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit for the year before contribution to KFAS, 
NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration is required to be transferred to voluntary reserve. Such annual transfers may 
be discontinued by a resolution of the Group’s shareholders Annual General Assembly upon a recommendation by 
the Board of Directors. Voluntary reserve is available for distribution. The Bank has transferred KD 1,447 thousand 
to the voluntary reserve for the year ended 31 December 2013.

The share premium account and treasury shares reserve are not available for distribution.

The revaluation surplus represents the surplus of market value over carrying value of freehold land and buildings 
(net of incremental depreciation). The balance in this reserve will be directly transferred to retained earnings on 
disposal of the underlying assets.

16.									Murabaha	and	other	islamic	financing	income

17.									Distribution	to	depositors

The Board of Directors of the Bank determined the depositors’ share of profit based on the results for the year.
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The Board of Directors has been authorised by the shareholders to purchase treasury shares up to a 
maximum of 10% of the share capital of the Bank. Reserves equivalent to the cost of the treasury shares 
held are not available for distribution. 

c) Dividends 

The Board of Directors’ meeting held on 10 February 2014 recommended the distribution of cash 
dividend of 7 fils per share (2012: 7 fils per share) on outstanding shares (excluding treasury shares) in 
respect of the year ended 31 December 2013. This proposal is subject to the approval by the 
shareholders’ Annual General Assembly.  

The cash dividends for the year ended 31 December 2012 were approved by the shareholders at the 
Annual General Assembly held on 20 March 2013. 
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In accordance with the Companies Law as amended and the Articles of Association, the Group is required to 
transfer to statutory reserve, 10% of the profit for the year before contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and 
directors’ remuneration. Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the 
payment of a dividend of 5% of share capital in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the 
payment of a dividend of that amount. The Bank has transferred KD 1,447 thousand to the statutory reserve 
for the year ended 31 December 2013. 

In accordance with the Bank’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit for the year before contribution to 
KFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration is required to be transferred to voluntary reserve. Such 
annual transfers may be discontinued by a resolution of the Group’s shareholders Annual General Assembly 
upon a recommendation by the Board of Directors. Voluntary reserve is available for distribution. The Bank 
has transferred KD 1,447 thousand to the voluntary reserve for the year ended 31 December 2013. 

The share premium account and treasury shares reserve are not available for distribution. 

The revaluation surplus represents the surplus of market value over carrying value of freehold land and 
buildings (net of incremental depreciation). The balance in this reserve will be directly transferred to 
retained earnings on disposal of the underlying assets. 

16. Murabaha and other islamic financing income  
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Income from Murabaha 42,684  36,016 
Income from Ijara 8,332  7,848 
Income from sukuk 310  1,101 
 51,326  44,965 

17. Distribution to depositors  

The Board of Directors of the Bank determined the depositors’ share of profit based on the results for the 
year. 

18. Net fees and commission income 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Fees and commission income 6,652  5,544 
Fees and commission expense (45)  (165) 
Net fees and commission income 6,607  5,379 
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19. Investment income 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Dividend income 1,395  1,125 
Net realised gain from investment securities 1,368  474 
Net gain from sale of investment properties 1,058  1,149 
Rental income from investment properties 853  696 
 4,674  3,444 

20. Impairment loss and other provisions 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Financing receivables and loans and advances (note 5) 16,992  8,221 
(Reversal of)/ provision for impairment on non-cash credit facilities  (195)  432 
Financial assets available for sale 664  237 
Loss on fair valuation of previously held equity interest (note 11) 687  - 
Impairment on investment property (note 8) -  71 
Impairment loss/ (write back of impairment loss) on other assets 10  (6) 
 18,158  8,955 

21. Basic and diluted earnings per share 

Basic and diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the 
shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number of shares issued, less treasury shares. The 
computation of earnings per share is as follows: 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Bank 13,208  13,165 

  
 Shares (000’s) 
   
Weighted average number of shares issued 1,037,327  1,037,327 
Weighted average number of treasury shares (103,638)  (103,638) 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 933,689  933,689 
    
 Fils  Fils 
Basic and diluted earnings per share  14.15  14.10 

22. Cash and cash equivalents  
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Cash and balances with banks and financial institutions (note 3) 26,365  18,624 
Tawarruq transactions with the Central Bank of Kuwait (note 4) 292,966  235,560 
Murabaha finance with other banks and financial institutions  
(90 days or less) (note 4) 

 
63,383  

 
49,917 

 382,714  304,101 
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18.	 Net	fees	and	commission	income

19.	 Investment	income

20.	 Impairment	loss	and	other	provisions

21.         Basic	and	diluted	earnings	per	share
Basic and diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the shareholders 
of the Bank by the weighted average number of shares issued, less treasury shares. The computation of earnings 
per share is as follows:
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23. Commitments and contingent liabilities 

To meet the financial needs of customers, the Group enters into various contingent liabilities and irrevocable 
commitments. Even though these obligations may not be recognised on the consolidated statement of 
financial position, they expose the Group to credit risk and therefore form part of the overall risk of the 
Group. 

The total outstanding contingent liabilities and commitments are as follows: 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Acceptances 12,737  14,688 
Letters of credit 5,619  7,838 
Letters of guarantee 113,450  85,048 
Irrevocable commitments to extend credit 127,163  111,033 
 258,969  218,607 

24. Related parties 

These are transactions with certain related parties (major shareholders, associates, directors and executive 
officers of the Group, close members of their families and companies in which they are principal owners or 
over which they are able to exercise significant influence) who were customers of the Group in the ordinary 
course of business. Such transactions were made on substantially the same terms including profit rates and 
collateral as those prevailing at the same time for comparable transactions with unrelated parties and did not 
involve more than a normal amount of risk. 

The transactions and balances with related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as 
follows: 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 

 
Major 

shareholders 
 

 Key 
management 
and directors 

  
 

2013 

  
 

2012 
Balances        
Financing receivables and loans and advances  9,840  3,444  13,284  926 
Deposits  2,325  1,563  3,888  6,014 
Transactions        
Murabaha and other Islamic financing income 138  68  206  23 
Distribution to depositors 1  2  3  26 
 
The transactions and balances with key management personnel and directors as of the reporting date are as 
follows: 
 2013  2012 
 No. of 

Directors or 
Executive 

officers. 

  
 

Amount 
KD 000’s 

 No. of 
Directors or 

Executive 
officers. 

  
 

Amount 
KD 000’s 

Directors        
Financing receivables and loans and advances 4  3,372  2  838 
Deposits 8  1,188  8  1,217 
Collaterals 2  7,538  1  1,943 
Executive officers        
Financing receivables and loans and advances 8  72  3  88 
Deposits 16  375  19  299 
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Amount 
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19. Investment income 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Dividend income 1,395  1,125 
Net realised gain from investment securities 1,368  474 
Net gain from sale of investment properties 1,058  1,149 
Rental income from investment properties 853  696 
 4,674  3,444 

20. Impairment loss and other provisions 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Financing receivables and loans and advances (note 5) 16,992  8,221 
(Reversal of)/ provision for impairment on non-cash credit facilities  (195)  432 
Financial assets available for sale 664  237 
Loss on fair valuation of previously held equity interest (note 11) 687  - 
Impairment on investment property (note 8) -  71 
Impairment loss/ (write back of impairment loss) on other assets 10  (6) 
 18,158  8,955 

21. Basic and diluted earnings per share 

Basic and diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the 
shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number of shares issued, less treasury shares. The 
computation of earnings per share is as follows: 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Bank 13,208  13,165 

  
 Shares (000’s) 
   
Weighted average number of shares issued 1,037,327  1,037,327 
Weighted average number of treasury shares (103,638)  (103,638) 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 933,689  933,689 
    
 Fils  Fils 
Basic and diluted earnings per share  14.15  14.10 

22. Cash and cash equivalents  
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
Cash and balances with banks and financial institutions (note 3) 26,365  18,624 
Tawarruq transactions with the Central Bank of Kuwait (note 4) 292,966  235,560 
Murabaha finance with other banks and financial institutions  
(90 days or less) (note 4) 

 
63,383  

 
49,917 

 382,714  304,101 
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22.	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents

23.	 Commitments	and	contingent	liabilities

To meet the financial needs of customers, the Group enters into various contingent liabilities and irrevocable 
commitments. Even though these obligations may not be recognised on the consolidated statement of financial 
position, they expose the Group to credit risk and therefore form part of the overall risk of the Group.

The total outstanding contingent liabilities and commitments are as follows:

24.	 Related	parties

These are transactions with certain related parties (major shareholders, associates, directors and executive 
officers of the Group, close members of their families and companies in which they are principal owners or over 
which they are able to exercise significant influence) who were customers of the Group in the ordinary course of 
business. Such transactions were made on substantially the same terms including profit rates and collateral as 
those prevailing at the same time for comparable transactions with unrelated parties and did not involve more than 
a normal amount of risk.

The transactions and balances with related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:
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Executive 

officers. 

  
 

Amount 
KD 000’s 

 No. of 
Directors or 

Executive 
officers. 

  
 

Amount 
KD 000’s 

Directors        
Financing receivables and loans and advances 4  3,372  2  838 
Deposits 8  1,188  8  1,217 
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Executive officers        
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The transactions and balances with key management personnel and directors as of the reporting date are as follows:

The key management and directors’ remuneration during the year was as follows:

Directors’ remuneration is subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
The additional acquisition of equity interest in Ritaj during the year was from a related party (note 11).

25.	 Segment	information

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on the reports reviewed by the CEO that are used for 
strategic decisions. These segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services.

They are managed separately since the nature of the products and services, class of customers and marketing 
strategies of these segments are different.

These operating segments meet the criteria for reportable segments and are as follows:
•	 Commercial and International - comprising of range of banking services and investment products to corporate 

customers providing commodity and real estate Murabaha finance, Ijara and Wakala facilities;
•	 Retail - comprising of range of banking services and investment products to individual customers, providing 

commodity and real estate Murabaha finance, Ijara and Wakala facilities;
•	 Treasury, Fund Management and Institutional Banking - comprising of liquidity management, correspondent 

banking, clearing, Murabaha investments, exchange of deposits with banks and financial institutions;
•	 Investment Management - comprising of investment in associates and other investments;
•	 Others - comprising of those which is not pertaining to the above segments and includes those relating to a 

subsidiary.

Management monitors the operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource 
allocation and performance assessment.

The Group measures the performance of operating segments through measures of segment operating income and 
results in management and reporting system.

Segment assets principally comprise of all assets and segment liabilities comprise of all liabilities that are attributable 
to the segment.

Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. 
State of Kuwait 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2013 

29 

The key management and directors’ remuneration during the year was as follows: 
 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
Directors:    
Board of Directors’ remuneration 550  275 
Key management compensation:    
Short-term benefits 1,439  946 
Post-employment benefits 66  65 
 2,055  1,286 

Directors’ remuneration is subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting.  

The additional acquisition of equity interest in Ritaj during the year was from a related party (note 11). 

25. Segment information 

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on the reports reviewed by the CEO that are used for 
strategic decisions. These segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services. 
They are managed separately since the nature of the products and services, class of customers and marketing 
strategies of these segments are different. 

These operating segments meet the criteria for reportable segments and are as follows: 

 Commercial and International - comprising of range of banking services and investment products to 
corporate customers providing commodity and real estate Murabaha finance, Ijara and Wakala facilities; 

 Retail - comprising of range of banking services and investment products to individual customers, 
providing commodity and real estate Murabaha finance, Ijara and Wakala facilities; 

 Treasury, Fund Management and Institutional Banking - comprising of liquidity management, 
correspondent banking, clearing, Murabaha investments, exchange of deposits with banks and financial 
institutions; 

 Investment Management - comprising of investment in associates and other investments; 

 Others - comprising of those which is not pertaining to the above segments and includes those relating 
to a subsidiary.  

Management monitors the operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource 
allocation and performance assessment.  

The Group measures the performance of operating segments through measures of segment operating income 
and results in management and reporting system.  
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Segment assets principally comprise of all assets and segment liabilities comprise of all liabilities that are 
attributable to the segment. 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 

 
 
 
 

 Commercial 
and 

 International 

 
 
 
 

Retail  
 
 
 

Treasury, Fund 
Management 

 and 
Institutional 

Banking 

   Investment 
 Management 

 
 
 
 

Others  
 
 
 

Total 

2013           
Segment operating income 38,782 12,039 (875) 5,231 1,773 56,950 
Segment results       
- Depreciation -  -  -  -  (3,800) (3,800) 
- Impairment loss and other 

provisions 
 

(15,349)  
 

(1,458)  
 
-   

(1,351)  
 

- 
 

(18,158) 
- Share of results from an associate -  -  -  336  - 336 
Segment profit 6,080  5,929  5,822  151  (4,760) 13,222 
Segment assets 819,610  197,990  349,001  99,079  37,763 1,503,443 
Segment liabilities 161,401  479,429  606,843  -  28,387 1,276,060 
 
2012            

Segment operating income 34,097 7,857 (1,698) 2,970 1,684 44,910 
Segment results       
- Depreciation -  -  -  -  (4,425) (4,425) 
- Impairment loss and other 

provisions 
 

(7,091) 
 
 

 
(1,556) 

 
 

 
- 

 
 

 
(308) 

 
 

 
- 

  
(8,955) 

- Share of results from an associate -  -  -  72  - 72 
Segment profit 9,079  4,231  5,017  (1,136)  (4,026) 13,165 
Segment assets 670,438  162,036  299,501  87,234  30,287 1,249,496 
Segment liabilities 88,426  381,714  536,550  -  26,233 1,032,923 
Other disclosures        
- Investment in an associate -  -  - 5,004 -  5,004 

The Group operates in Kuwait only. 

26. Financial instrument and risk management 

(a) Strategy in using financial instruments 

As an Islamic commercial bank, the Bank’s activities are principally related to the sourcing of funds through 
Shariaá compliant financial instruments, within the guidelines prescribed by CBK and deploying these funds 
in Shariaá compliant financing and investment activities, to earn a profit. The profits are shared between the 
shareholders as well as the profit sharing deposit account holders, as per policies and proportions 
determined by the Board of Directors and Fatwa and Shariaá Supervisory Board. The funds raised vary in 
maturity between short and longer tenors and are mainly in Kuwaiti Dinars, apart from major foreign 
currencies (including GCC currencies). While deploying the funds, the Bank focuses on the safety of the 
funds as well as maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that may fall due. Safety of shareholders 
and depositor funds is further enhanced by diversification of financing activities across economic and 
geographic sectors, as well as borrower types. 

(b) Overall risk management 

The main objective of risk management in the Group is to achieve an optimum balance between the twin 
goals of profit maximisation and capital maintenance.  

The Group’s risk management framework is built around this objective and seeks to address specific 
concerns of the various stakeholders such as shareholders, CBK, rating agencies, customers, depositors and 
the general public. 

The Group’s commitment to the creation and maintenance of effective risk management systems and 
procedures is evidenced by the oversight responsibility given to the Board Risk Management Committee.  
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The Group operates in Kuwait only.

26.	 Financial	instrument	and	risk	management

(a)	 Strategy	in	using	financial	instruments

As an Islamic commercial bank, the Bank’s activities are principally related to the sourcing of funds through Shariaá 
compliant financial instruments, within the guidelines prescribed by CBK and deploying these funds in Shariaá 
compliant financing and investment activities, to earn a profit. The profits are shared between the shareholders 
as well as the profit sharing deposit account holders, as per policies and proportions determined by the Board of 
Directors and Fatwa and Shariaá Supervisory Board. The funds raised vary in maturity between short and longer 
tenors and are mainly in Kuwaiti Dinars, apart from major foreign currencies (including GCC currencies). While 
deploying the funds, the Bank focuses on the safety of the funds as well as maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet 
all claims that may fall due. Safety of shareholders and depositor funds is further enhanced by diversification of 
financing activities across economic and geographic sectors, as well as borrower types.
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(b)										Overall	risk	management

The main objective of risk management in the Group is to achieve an optimum balance between the twin goals of 
profit maximisation and capital maintenance.

The Group’s risk management framework is built around this objective and seeks to address specific concerns of 
the various stakeholders such as shareholders, CBK, rating agencies, customers, depositors and the general public.

The Group’s commitment to the creation and maintenance of effective risk management systems and procedures is 
evidenced by the oversight responsibility given to the Board Risk Management Committee.

The Group has established a prudent and professional approach to risk-taking with the following underlying
principles that support its risk management framework:

•	 Actively promoting an overall culture that accords high value to disciplined and effective risk management;
•	 Using professionally qualified people with appropriate risk management skills;
•	 Disciplined processes for evaluation and acceptance of risk within appropriate limits in individual transactions, 

products and the management of financing and investments;
•	 A management information system that provides timely and accurate information on risks to the relevant 

management group and the commitment to continuously upgrade these systems and apply the most upto- 
date analytical tools and systems to properly capture risks, monitor positions and determine the impact of 
potential management actions; and

•	 An internal audit function to ensure ongoing adherence to and integrity of risk management processes. The 
Group has a Risk Management Department, which is primarily responsible for the risk management in the 
Group. The Risk Management Department is structured in a manner which facilitates focused attention on each 
of the specific risk arising from financial instruments areas, e.g., credit, liquidity, market (encompassing foreign 
exchange, profit rate, equity risks) and other risks such as operational risks.

The Group’s risk management methodologies include:
•	 Pro-active methodologies such as continuous review and enhancement of: the Group’s policies and procedures; 

development and enhancement of risk measurement tools such as risk grading models, pricing models and 
VaR models; risk inputs in respect of the Group’s strategic planning as well as structuring and review of product 
and services.

•	 On-going methodologies, such as risk management inputs in respect of proposed financing and investment 
applications; compliance review - post approval - of financing and investment facilities; periodical review of the 
financing and investment portfolio by way of reports and highlighting perceived risks to top management as well 
as line functionaries; continuous monitoring of market, operational and IT-security related risks.

•	 Post fact methodologies, such as review of proposals and trends in respect of provisions; write-offs and 
disposal of investments.

(i)											Credit	risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other 
party to incur a financial loss. This includes the risk of decline in the credit standing of the customer. While such 
decline does not imply default, it increases the probability of the customer defaulting. Financial instruments that 
create credit risk include financing facilities and commitments to extend credit and investment in debt securities i.e. 
investment in sukuks.

Credit	risk	management	structure
To manage credit risk, the Group has established a board level Financing and Investment Committee and the 
following management committees:
•	 Financing and Investment Committee
•	 Provision Committee
The Board level Financing and Investment Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving the management 

level Financing and Investment Committee’s recommendations with regard to credit facilities, financing relationships, 
financing limits, pricing and profitability.
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The management level Financing and Investment Committee is responsible for safeguarding the asset quality of 
the Bank and ensuring profitable use of funds. The Committee reviews the Bank’s credit policy in line with CBK 
guidelines for commercial and retail credit as well as the inter-bank and country limits. The Committee approves 
or renews credit proposals within the Committee’s lending limits and reviews and concurs in the approval process 
for extension of credit in excess of the authority of the Committee.

The Provision Committee is primarily responsible for determining the provisions required for impaired loans when 
the facility is not already classified as irregular according to CBK regulations (i.e. the Watch list classification of 
financing facilities). In addition, the Committee also reviews the required provisions for irregular financing facilities 
to ensure compliance with CBK regulations.

In accordance with the instructions of the CBK dated 18 December 1996, setting out the rules and regulations 
regarding the classification of credit facilities, the Bank has formed an internal committee which is composed of 
competent professional staff and which is responsible for the study and evaluation of the existing credit facilities 
of each customer of the Bank. This Committee, which meets regularly throughout the year, is required to identify 
any abnormal situations and difficulties associated with a customer’s position, which may cause the debt to be 
classified as irregular, and to determine an appropriate provisioning level. The Committee also studies the position 
of customers whose irregular balances exceed 25% of their total debt, in order to determine whether further 
provisions are required.

Credit	risk	management	strategy	and	process
The Bank manages its credit facilities portfolio with the objective of ensuring that it is well diversified and it earns 
a level of return appropriate to the risk it assumes.
In the course of normal business, the Bank deploys its funds in various credit facilities, with the primary objective of 
generating profits for the shareholders and deposit holders. However, at the same time, the Bank seeks to ensure 
the quality of the credit facilities. The Bank continually strives to achieve an optimal balance between the return 
and credit quality of the portfolio.

The Bank’s policies and procedures manuals, dealing with credit, lay down the credit risk management framework 
by specifying various covenants and credit standards which include:
•	 clear definition of roles and responsibilities of the various functionaries involved in the different stages of the 

credit facility life cycle;
•	 establishing clear approval authority structure both for routine as well as exceptional credit facilities;
•	 listing beneficiary, facility, collateral and pricing parameters for the Bank’s product-set;
•	 standardising credit approval packages;
•	 defining criteria for collateral valuation and policies for collateral management;
•	 detailing the procedures for the entire credit life-cycle, including problem loan management;
•	 ensuring, by way of limits, a diversification of the credit portfolio across geographies (countries/ regions), 

sectors, and counterparties.

Credit	risk	measurement
The Bank measures credit risk in terms of asset quality using two primary measures - the provisioning ratio and 
the non-performing financing receivables and loans and advances ratio. The non-performing loans ratio is the ratio 
of non-performing loans to total loans.

Definitions	of	past	due	and	impaired
The following classification of credit exposures is considered by the Bank for identifying impaired credit facilities:

Days	past	due	 	 	 	 	 	 Classification

More than 30 days but not exceeding 90 days   watch list
More than 90 days but not exceeding 180 days  substandard
More than 180 days but not exceeding 365 days  doubtful
More than 365 days     bad



79

Maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement 
of financial position, without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements. The gross maximum 
exposure is shown net of deferred profit and provision, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master 
netting and collateral agreements.

Credit risk can also arise due to a significant concentration of Bank’s assets to any single counterparty; this risk is 
managed by diversification of the portfolio. The 20 largest gross customers account 23.5% (2012: 21%) of total 
credit risk exposures as at 31 December 2013.

Risk	concentrations	of	the	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk
Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, 
or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability 
to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. 
Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank’s performance to developments affecting 
a particular industry or geographic location.
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 Maximum exposure to credit risk 

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated 
statement of financial position, without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements. The 
gross maximum exposure is shown net of deferred profit and provision, before the effect of mitigation 
through the use of master netting and collateral agreements.  
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 Gross maximum exposure 
 2013  2012 
Credit risk exposures relating to  
consolidated statement of financial position items:    

Balances with banks and financial institutions 18,690  13,452 
Due from banks and other financial institutions 361,741  299,774 
Financing receivables and loans and advances 979,791  781,823 
Investment in sukuks 8,844  31,753 
Other assets 9,557  4,538 
Total 1,378,623  1,131,340 
    
Credit risk exposures relating to commitments and contingent liabilities:    
Acceptances 12,737  14,688 
Letters of credit 5,619  7,838 
Guarantees  113,450  85,048 
Commitments to extend credit 127,163  111,033 
Total 258,969  218,607 
Total credit risk exposure 1,637,592  1,349,947 

Credit risk can also arise due to a significant concentration of Bank’s assets to any single counterparty; this 
risk is managed by diversification of the portfolio. The 20 largest gross customers account 23.5% (2012: 
21%) of total credit risk exposures as at 31 December 2013.  

Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk 

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business 
activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause 
their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or 
other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank’s performance to 
developments affecting a particular industry or geographic location. 

Geographical and industry sector concentrations of financial assets and off balance sheet items are as 
follows:  
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 2013  2012 

 
Financial 

assets 
 
 

Commitments 
and contingent 

liabilities 

 Financial 
assets 

 
 

Commitments 
and contingent 

liabilities 
Geographic region:        
Asia 6,471  -  9,618  889 
North America 4,201  -  1,552  -  
Middle east (excluding Kuwait) 24,675  4,776  66,030  5,364 
Europe 29,721  -  30,296  -  
Kuwait 1,313,555  254,193  1,023,844  212,354 
 1,378,623  258,969  1,131,340  218,607 
Industry sector:        
Personal 230,330  -  197,532  - 
Financial institutions 453,380  27,957  398,204  13,244 
Real Estate 392,344  8,489  349,013  62,558 
Construction 130,624  171,610  108,780  87,722 
Others 171,945  50,913  77,811  55,083  
 1,378,623  258,969  1,131,340  218,607 
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Geographical and industry sector concentrations of financial assets and off balance sheet items are as follows:

Credit	risk	mitigation
Credit risk mitigation techniques that the Bank is permitted to use are collateral, netting and guarantees provided 
under certain conditions, which include such agreements being binding on all parties and legal enforceability, are met.

The Bank’s lending policy specifies the acceptable types of collateral, source of valuation, accuracy of valuation 
and frequency of revaluation in respect of collateral. The policy also specifies the maximum facility commitment to 
collateral value and approval levels for different types of collateral and facility. The accepted collaterals are cash, 
first demand bank guarantees, equity shares and real estate-both within and outside Kuwait.

As part of its general collateral control mechanism, the Bank periodically revalues all collateral to ascertain that 
the collateral cover is not lower than the value at the time of the original approval. The Bank also continuously 
monitors the validity and expiry dates of mortgages to ensure their timely renewal. The main types of guarantors 
are individuals and corporate entities. Since none of the Bank’s guarantor counterparties have been rated by any 
of the three rating agencies (approved by the CBK for the purposes of calculation of capital adequacy), the Bank 
has not taken any guarantor related credit risk mitigation allowance while arriving at the capital adequacy.

Collateral	and	other	credit	enhancements
The amount and type of collateral required depend on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. 
Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.

The main types of collateral are cash, securities, and charges over real estate properties and counterguarantees.
Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the 
underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy of 
the allowance for impairment losses.

It is the Bank’s policy to dispose off repossessed properties in an orderly fashion. The proceeds are used to reduce 
or repay the outstanding claim. In general, the Bank does not occupy repossessed properties for business use.

At 31 December 2013, 49% (2012: 47%) of the total outstanding financing receivables and loans and advances 
were fully secured.
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 Maximum exposure to credit risk 

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated 
statement of financial position, without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements. The 
gross maximum exposure is shown net of deferred profit and provision, before the effect of mitigation 
through the use of master netting and collateral agreements.  
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 Gross maximum exposure 
 2013  2012 
Credit risk exposures relating to  
consolidated statement of financial position items:    

Balances with banks and financial institutions 18,690  13,452 
Due from banks and other financial institutions 361,741  299,774 
Financing receivables and loans and advances 979,791  781,823 
Investment in sukuks 8,844  31,753 
Other assets 9,557  4,538 
Total 1,378,623  1,131,340 
    
Credit risk exposures relating to commitments and contingent liabilities:    
Acceptances 12,737  14,688 
Letters of credit 5,619  7,838 
Guarantees  113,450  85,048 
Commitments to extend credit 127,163  111,033 
Total 258,969  218,607 
Total credit risk exposure 1,637,592  1,349,947 

Credit risk can also arise due to a significant concentration of Bank’s assets to any single counterparty; this 
risk is managed by diversification of the portfolio. The 20 largest gross customers account 23.5% (2012: 
21%) of total credit risk exposures as at 31 December 2013.  

Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk 

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business 
activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause 
their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or 
other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank’s performance to 
developments affecting a particular industry or geographic location. 

Geographical and industry sector concentrations of financial assets and off balance sheet items are as 
follows:  
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 2013  2012 

 
Financial 

assets 
 
 

Commitments 
and contingent 

liabilities 

 Financial 
assets 

 
 

Commitments 
and contingent 

liabilities 
Geographic region:        
Asia 6,471  -  9,618  889 
North America 4,201  -  1,552  -  
Middle east (excluding Kuwait) 24,675  4,776  66,030  5,364 
Europe 29,721  -  30,296  -  
Kuwait 1,313,555  254,193  1,023,844  212,354 
 1,378,623  258,969  1,131,340  218,607 
Industry sector:        
Personal 230,330  -  197,532  - 
Financial institutions 453,380  27,957  398,204  13,244 
Real Estate 392,344  8,489  349,013  62,558 
Construction 130,624  171,610  108,780  87,722 
Others 171,945  50,913  77,811  55,083  
 1,378,623  258,969  1,131,340  218,607 
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Credit	quality	of	financial	instruments

The Bank classifies the various credit risk exposure which are neither past due nor impaired into three categories 
of credit quality as under:
•	 High quality: Regular exposures covered fully by collateral in excess of 100% of the outstanding amount.
•	 Moderate quality: All other regular exposures where the collateral does not fully cover the outstanding amount.

The table below shows the credit risk exposure by credit quality of assets by class and grade net of deferred profit 
and provision:

Ageing analysis of past due but not impaired financing receivables and loans and advances as per class of 
financial assets.
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The table below shows the credit risk exposure by credit quality of assets by class and grade net of deferred 
profit and provision: 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 Neither past due nor 

impaired 
  

 High 
quality 

 Moderate 
quality 

  
Total 

2013      
Balances with banks and financial institutions 18,690  -  18,690 
Due from banks and other financial institutions 361,741  -  361,741 
Financing receivables and loans and advances 456,701  419,730  876,431 
Investment in sukuk -  8,844  8,844 
Other assets 9,557  -  9,557 

 846,689  428,574  1,275,263 
2012      
Balances with banks and financial institutions 13,452  -  13,452 
Due from banks and other financial institutions 299,774  -  299,774 
Financing receivables and loans and advances 283,783  364,863  648,646 
Investment in sukuk -  31,753  31,753 
Other assets 4,538  -  4,538 
 601,547  396,616  998,163 

Ageing analysis of past due but not impaired financing receivables and loans and advances as per class of 
financial assets. 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 Past due but not impaired   

 Past due up 
to 30 days 

 Past due 30 
to 60 days 

 Past due 60 
to 90 days 

  
Total 

2013        
Financing receivables and loans and advances:        
- Corporate 24,612  6,179  2,129  32,920 
- Consumer 9,164  2,662  1,004  12,830 
 33,776  8,841  3,133  45,750 
Fair value of collateral 69,063  12,672  2,775  84,510 
2012        
Financing receivables and loans and advances:        
- Corporate 42,477  17,515  6,562  66,554 
- Consumer 10,547  2,728  1,916  15,191 
 53,024  20,243  8,478  81,745 
Fair value of collateral 52,226  30,544  1,582  84,352 

Financing receivables and loans and advances individually impaired as per class of financial assets. 

 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 Impaired 

financing 
receivables 

and loans and 
advances  

Fair value of 
collateral 

2013    
Financing receivables and loans and advances:    
- Corporate 56,600  98,040 
- Consumer 1,010  - 
 57,610  98,040 
2012    
Financing receivables and loans and advances:    
- Corporate 50,567  105,259 
- Consumer 865  125 
 51,432  105,384 
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Financing receivables and loans and advances individually impaired as per class of financial assets.

(ii)										Liquidity	risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. To limit liquidity risk, management has 
arranged diversified funding sources in addition to its core deposit base, manages assets with liquidity in mind, 
and monitors liquidity on a daily basis.

The Bank maintains access to liquidity in the form of consolidated statement of financial position and access to 
markets such that, even under adverse conditions, it does not need to raise deposits at unreasonable rates or sell 
assets on a forced basis. The Bank’s management of liquidity risk is consistent with its overall risk management 
framework and includes establishing minimum liquid asset requirements and limits with regards to the acceptance 
of short term wholesale deposits to protect against short term liquidity demands.

The Bank monitors liquidity risk by measuring the liquidity gaps on a daily basis and the position is reviewed by 
asset liability management committee (ALCO) on a monthly basis. Similarly liquidity reserve position and the ratio 
of financing facilities to eligible deposits are monitored on a daily basis.
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The Bank measures liquidity risk by preparing and monitoring the maturity profile of its assets and liabilities
as disclosed below:
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(ii) Liquidity risk   

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. To limit liquidity risk, 
management has arranged diversified funding sources in addition to its core deposit base, manages assets 
with liquidity in mind, and monitors liquidity on a daily basis. 

The Bank maintains access to liquidity in the form of consolidated statement of financial position and access 
to markets such that, even under adverse conditions, it does not need to raise deposits at unreasonable rates 
or sell assets on a forced basis. The Bank’s management of liquidity risk is consistent with its overall risk 
management framework and includes establishing minimum liquid asset requirements and limits with 
regards to the acceptance of short term wholesale deposits to protect against short term liquidity demands. 

The Bank monitors liquidity risk by measuring the liquidity gaps on a daily basis and the position is 
reviewed by asset liability management committee (ALCO) on a monthly basis. Similarly liquidity reserve 
position and the ratio of financing facilities to eligible deposits are monitored on a daily basis. 

The Bank measures liquidity risk by preparing and monitoring the maturity profile of its assets and liabilities 
as disclosed below: 

2013 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 Up to  1-3  3-12  Over   
Assets 1 month  months  months  1 year       Total 
Cash and balances with  
banks and financial Institutions 26,365  -  -  -  26,365 
Due from banks and other financial institutions 75,887  157,128  128,726  -  361,741 
Financing receivables and loans and advances 117,877  100,343  421,964  339,607  979,791 
Investment securities 16,408  -  297  40,894  57,599 
Investment properties -  -  -  45,669  45,669 
Other assets 11,710  -  -  -  11,710 
Property and equipment -  -  -  20,568  20,568 
Total assets 248,247  257,471  550,987  446,738  1,503,443 
Liabilities          
Due to banks and  other financial institutions 154,732  50,204  100,205   -  305,141 
Depositors’ accounts 461,810  125,174  352,288  -  939,272 
Other liabilities 25,695  -  -  5,952  31,647 
Total liabilities  642,237  175,378  452,493  5,952  1,276,060 
Net liquidity gap (393,990)  82,093  98,494  440,786  227,383 
 
2012 

 
(Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 

 Up to  1-3  3-12  Over   
Assets 1 month  months  months  1 year       Total 
Cash and balances with  
banks and financial institutions 18,624 - -  -   18,624 
Due from banks and other financial institutions 105,186  114,466  80,122  -   299,774 
Financing receivables and loans and advances 30,159  62,570  299,399  389,695  781,823 
Investment securities 22,099  -  -  47,003  69,102 
Investments in associates -  -  -  5,004  5,004 
Investment properties -  -  -  44,881  44,881 
Other assets 6,216  -  -  -   6,216 
Property and equipment      -   -  -  24,072  24,072 
Total assets 182,284 177,036 379,521  510,655  1,249,496 
Liabilities        
Due to banks and  other financial institutions 39,830 18,727 163,377  -   221,934 
Depositors’ accounts 359,988  198,397  226,346  25  784,756 
Other liabilities 20,741      -      -  5,492  26,233 
Total liabilities  420,559 217,124 389,723  5,517  1,032,923 
Net liquidity gap (238,275)  (40,088)  (10,202)  505,138  216,573 
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The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2013 
based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject to notice are 
treated as if notice were to be given immediately.  

 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 Less than  1-3  3-12  1 to 5  Over   
 1 month  months  months  years  5 years  Total 
2013            
Due to banks and 
other financial institutions 

 
154,933 

  
50,270 

  
100,336 

  
- 

  
- 

  
305,539 

Depositors’ accounts 462,412  125,337  352,747  -  -  940,496 
Other liabilities 25,695  -  -  -  5,952  31,647 
 643,040  175,607  453,083  -  5,952  1,277,682 
2012            
Due to banks and 
other financial Institutions 

 
39,896 

  
18,758 

  
163,651 

  
-  

  
-  

  
222,305 

Depositors’ accounts 360,589  198,728  226,722  25  -   786,064 
Other liabilities 20,741  -   -   -   5,492  26,233 
 421,226  217,486  390,373  25  5,492  1,034,602 

The table below shows the contractual expiry of the Group’s contingent liabilities and commitments. 

 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
  Less than  1-3  3-12  1 to 5  Over   
 1 month  months  months  years  5 years  Total 
2013            
Contingent liabilities 10,049  29,999  44,491  37,807  9,460  131,806 
Commitments 5,059  4,717  69,250  23,051  25,086  127,163 
 15,108  34,716  113,741  60,858  34,546  258,969 
2012            
Contingent liabilities 8,468  21,321  39,526  32,029  6,230  107,574 
Commitments 18,487  10,114  75,987  2,462  3,983  111,033 
 26,955  31,435  115,513  34,491  10,213  218,607 

(iii) Market risk management  

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises of three types of risk including interest rate risk, currency 
risk and other price risk (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk). 

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control exposures within acceptable parameters, 
whilst optimising returns. Given the Group’s current profile of financial instruments, the principle exposure 
is the risk of loss arising from fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of these financial instruments 
because of a change in achievable rates. This is managed principally through monitoring gaps between 
effective profit and rental rates and by having approved rates and bands reviewed at regular re-pricing 
meetings.  

Market risk management structure 

The overall responsibility of managing the Bank’s market risks is of ALCO. The day to day management of 
market risks is the responsibility of the treasury department which is headed by the Treasurer who reports to 
the Chief Executive Officer. The International Banking Department is responsible for proposing country 
limits based on Moody’s long term sovereign currency debt rating, or equivalent rating by the two other 
rating agencies, and reviewing them annually. The measurement, monitoring and reporting of market risks is 
the responsibility of the market risk division within risk management department. 

Market risk management strategy and process 

The Group has established risk management policies and limits within which exposure to market risks is 
monitored and controlled.  
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(iii) Market risk management  

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises of three types of risk including interest rate risk, currency 
risk and other price risk (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk). 

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control exposures within acceptable parameters, 
whilst optimising returns. Given the Group’s current profile of financial instruments, the principle exposure 
is the risk of loss arising from fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of these financial instruments 
because of a change in achievable rates. This is managed principally through monitoring gaps between 
effective profit and rental rates and by having approved rates and bands reviewed at regular re-pricing 
meetings.  

Market risk management structure 

The overall responsibility of managing the Bank’s market risks is of ALCO. The day to day management of 
market risks is the responsibility of the treasury department which is headed by the Treasurer who reports to 
the Chief Executive Officer. The International Banking Department is responsible for proposing country 
limits based on Moody’s long term sovereign currency debt rating, or equivalent rating by the two other 
rating agencies, and reviewing them annually. The measurement, monitoring and reporting of market risks is 
the responsibility of the market risk division within risk management department. 

Market risk management strategy and process 

The Group has established risk management policies and limits within which exposure to market risks is 
monitored and controlled.  

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2013
based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject to notice are
treated as if notice were to be given immediately.

The table below shows the contractual expiry of the Group’s contingent liabilities and commitments.

(iii)	 Market	risk	management
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises of three types of risk including interest rate risk, currency risk and 
other price risk (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk).

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control exposures within acceptable parameters, 
whilst optimising returns. Given the Group’s current profile of financial instruments, the principle exposure is the 
risk of loss arising from fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of these financial instruments because 
of a change in achievable rates. This is managed principally through monitoring gaps between effective profit and 
rental rates and by having approved rates and bands reviewed at regular re-pricing meetings.
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The following table sets out the market risk capital charge for interest rate risk, equity position risk, foreign 
exchange risk and commodity risk. 

(iii a) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Bank is not exposed to interest rate risk as the Bank does 
not charge interest in accordance with Islamic Shariaá.  

(iii b) Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group views itself as a Kuwaiti entity, with the Kuwaiti 
Dinars as its functional currency. The Board has set limits on positions by currency. Positions are monitored 
on a daily basis to ensure that they are maintained within established limits.  

The Group had the following net exposures denominated in foreign currencies as at 31 December: 

 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 31 December 
 2013  2012 
    
US Dollars (237)  31 
Sterling Pounds (54)  (30) 
Others (425)  106 
 (716)  107 

A sensitivity analysis is not disclosed since the Group does not have significant exposure to foreign 
exchange risk. 

(iii c) Equity price risk 

This is a risk that the value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes 
in market prices (other than those arising from rate of return risk or currency risk), whether those changes are 
caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded 
in the market. The Group manages this risk through diversification of investments in terms of geographical 
distribution and industry concentration. The sensitivity of the Group’s consolidated financial statements to 
the equity price risk is given below. 

For investments classified as available for sale, a five percent increase in stock prices as at 31 December 
2013 would have increased equity by KD 757 thousand (31 December 2012: an increase of KD 224 
thousand). An equal change in the opposite direction would have had equal, but opposite effect to the 
amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant. 

(iii d) Prepayment risk 

Prepayment risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties 
repay or request repayment earlier or later than expected, such as fixed rate mortgages when profit/ interest 
rates fall. Due to the contractual terms of its products, the Bank is not significantly exposed to prepayment 
risk. 

(iii) Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, 
or from external events. 

The Group’s business and support units have primary responsibility for identifying, assessing and managing 
their operational risks. They employ internal control techniques to reduce their likelihood or impact to 
tolerable levels within the Group’s risk appetite. Where appropriate, risk is mitigated by way of insurance. 

Market	risk	management	structure

The overall responsibility of managing the Bank’s market risks is of ALCO. The day to day management of market 
risks is the responsibility of the treasury department which is headed by the Treasurer who reports to the Chief 
Executive Officer. The International Banking Department is responsible for proposing country limits based on 
Moody’s long term sovereign currency debt rating, or equivalent rating by the two other rating agencies, and 
reviewing them annually. The measurement, monitoring and reporting of market risks is the responsibility of the 
market risk division within risk management department.

Market	risk	management	strategy	and	process
The Group has established risk management policies and limits within which exposure to market risks is monitored 
and controlled.

The following table sets out the market risk capital charge for interest rate risk, equity position risk, foreign 
exchange risk and commodity risk.

(iii a) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. The Bank is not exposed to interest rate risk as the Bank does not charge 
interest in accordance with Islamic Shariaá.

(iii b) Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group views itself as a Kuwaiti entity, with the Kuwaiti Dinars as its 
functional currency. The Board has set limits on positions by currency. Positions are monitored on a daily basis to 
ensure that they are maintained within established limits. The Group had the following net exposures denominated 
in foreign currencies as at 31 December:

A sensitivity analysis is not disclosed since the Group does not have significant exposure to foreign exchange risk.

(iii c) Equity price risk
This is a risk that the value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices (other than those arising from rate of return risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by 
factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. 
The Group manages this risk through diversification of investments in terms of geographical distribution and 
industry concentration. The sensitivity of the Group’s consolidated financial statements to the equity price risk is 
given below.

For investments classified as available for sale, a five percent increase in stock prices as at 31 December 2013 
would have increased equity by KD 757 thousand (31 December 2012: an increase of KD 224 thousand). An 
equal change in the opposite direction would have had equal, but opposite effect to the amounts shown above, 
on the basis that all other variables remain constant.
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(iii d) Prepayment risk
Prepayment risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties repay 
or request repayment earlier or later than expected, such as fixed rate mortgages when profit/ interest rates fall. 
Due to the contractual terms of its products, the Bank is not significantly exposed to prepayment risk.

(iii)	 Operational	risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems,
or from external events. 

The Group’s business and support units have primary responsibility for identifying, assessing and managing their 
operational risks. They employ internal control techniques to reduce their likelihood or impact to tolerable levels 
within the Group’s risk appetite. Where appropriate, risk is mitigated by way of insurance.

The Group has a set of policies and procedures that are applied to identify, assess and control operations risk 
in addition to other types of risks relating to the banking and financial activities of the Bank. Operational risk is 
managed through the Risk Management Department. This department ensures compliance with policies and 
procedures to identify, assess, control and monitor operational risk as part of overall risk management.

The management of operational risks complies in all material respects with CBK instructions dated 14 November 
1996, regarding general guidelines for internal control systems and directive issued on 13 October 2003, regarding 
“Sound practices for management and control of operational risks”.

(iv)	 Fair	values	of	financial	instruments
Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and other models as appropriate. 
The carrying values of financial instruments are approximate to their fair values at 31 December due to the relatively 
short-term maturity of the instruments.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Some of the Group’s 
financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.

The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in particular, 
the valuation techniques(s) and inputs used).
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The Group has a set of policies and procedures that are applied to identify, assess and control operations 
risk in addition to other types of risks relating to the banking and financial activities of the Bank. Operational 
risk is managed through the Risk Management Department. This department ensures compliance with 
policies and procedures to identify, assess, control and monitor operational risk as part of overall risk 
management.   

The management of operational risks complies in all material respects with CBK instructions dated              
14 November 1996, regarding general guidelines for internal control systems and directive issued on         
13 October 2003, regarding “Sound practices for management and control of operational risks”. 

(iv) Fair values of financial instruments  

Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and other models as 
appropriate. The carrying values of financial instruments are approximate to their fair values at 31 December 
due to the relatively short-term maturity of the instruments.  

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. 

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The 
following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in 
particular, the valuation techniques(s) and inputs used). 

Financial assets Fair value as at 
 
 
Fair value 
Hierarchy 

 
 Sector 

 31 December 
2013 

 31 December 
2012 

    

        
Available for sale investments – Sukuk 1,747  1,450  Level 1  Services 
 1,433  15,807  Level 1  Financial 
 2,626  11,468  Level 1  Investment 
 3,037  3,029  Level 3  Real Estate  
        
Available for sale investments - Unquoted funds 492  3,412  Level 2  Real Estate  
        
Available for sale investments - Quoted securities 7,695  -  Level 1  Services 
 3,468  2,607  Level 1  Investment  
 2,421  1,881  Level 1  Banking  
 1,562  -  Level 1  Real Estate  
        
Available for sale investments – 
Unquoted securities 

 
4,355   

3,613   
Level 2   

Investment 
 20,342  17,193  Level 2  Services 
 2,821  3,099  Level 2  Real Estate 
 1,714  1,441  Level 2  Industrial  
 1,749  1,744  Level 3  Banking  
 1,692  -  Level 3  Healthcare  
Financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss - Quoted security 

 
-   

1,627   
Level 1   

Insurance  

The following table shows an analysis of financial investments recorded at fair value by level of the fair 
value hierarchy: 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 Level: 1  Level: 2  Level: 3  Total fair value 
2013        
Investment securities        
Financial assets available for sale:        
Quoted securities 15,146  -  -  15,146 
Unquoted funds -  492  -  492 
Unquoted securities -  28,878  3,795  32,673 
Investment in sukuk 5,806  -  3,037  8,843 
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risk is managed through the Risk Management Department. This department ensures compliance with 
policies and procedures to identify, assess, control and monitor operational risk as part of overall risk 
management.   

The management of operational risks complies in all material respects with CBK instructions dated              
14 November 1996, regarding general guidelines for internal control systems and directive issued on         
13 October 2003, regarding “Sound practices for management and control of operational risks”. 
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Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and other models as 
appropriate. The carrying values of financial instruments are approximate to their fair values at 31 December 
due to the relatively short-term maturity of the instruments.  
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following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in 
particular, the valuation techniques(s) and inputs used). 

Financial assets Fair value as at 
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Hierarchy 
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 31 December 
2013 

 31 December 
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Available for sale investments – Sukuk 1,747  1,450  Level 1  Services 
 1,433  15,807  Level 1  Financial 
 2,626  11,468  Level 1  Investment 
 3,037  3,029  Level 3  Real Estate  
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Available for sale investments - Quoted securities 7,695  -  Level 1  Services 
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 1,749  1,744  Level 3  Banking  
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Level 1   
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The following table shows an analysis of financial investments recorded at fair value by level of the fair 
value hierarchy: 
 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
 Level: 1  Level: 2  Level: 3  Total fair value 
2013        
Investment securities        
Financial assets available for sale:        
Quoted securities 15,146  -  -  15,146 
Unquoted funds -  492  -  492 
Unquoted securities -  28,878  3,795  32,673 
Investment in sukuk 5,806  -  3,037  8,843 
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 (Kuwaiti Dinars in ‘000) 
   Level: 1  Level: 2  Level: 3  Total fair value 
2012        
Investment securities        
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:        

726,1  seitiruces detouQ   -  -  1,627 
        
Financial assets available for sale:        

884,4 seitiruces detouQ   -  -  4,488 
    - sdnuf detouqnU   3,412  -  3,412 
    - seitiruces detouqnU   24,993  2,097  27,090 

527,82    kukus ni tnemtsevnI   -  3,029  31,754 

The methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values of financial instruments is described in 
fair value section of note 2 “Significant Accounting policies”. 

During the year ended 31 December 2013, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value 
measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements. 

27. Capital adequacy and capital management 

Capital adequacy 

The Group is required to comply with Capital Adequacy Regulation for Islamic banks issued by CBK as 
stipulated in CBK circular no. 2/RBA/44/2009 dated 15 June 2009 as amended. 

The Group’s regulatory capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December 2013 was 25.24% based on the following 
capital structure and risk-weighted assets: 

   KD’000 
    
   latipac 1 reiT 183,856 

Tier 2 capital   23,309 
Total risk weighted assets   820,799 

   oitar ycauqeda latipaC 25.24% 

Capital management 

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that the Group complies with 
externally imposed capital requirements and that the Group maintains strong credit ratings and healthy 
capital ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholders’ value. 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue 
capital securities. No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes from the previous years 
in this respect. 
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The methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values of financial instruments is described in 
fair value section of note 2 “Significant Accounting policies”. 

During the year ended 31 December 2013, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value 
measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements. 

27. Capital adequacy and capital management 

Capital adequacy 

The Group is required to comply with Capital Adequacy Regulation for Islamic banks issued by CBK as 
stipulated in CBK circular no. 2/RBA/44/2009 dated 15 June 2009 as amended. 

The Group’s regulatory capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December 2013 was 25.24% based on the following 
capital structure and risk-weighted assets: 

   KD’000 
    
   latipac 1 reiT 183,856 

Tier 2 capital   23,309 
Total risk weighted assets   820,799 

   oitar ycauqeda latipaC 25.24% 

Capital management 

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that the Group complies with 
externally imposed capital requirements and that the Group maintains strong credit ratings and healthy 
capital ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholders’ value. 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue 
capital securities. No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes from the previous years 
in this respect. 

The following table shows an analysis of financial investments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value 

hierarchy:

The methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values of financial instruments is described in fair 

value section of note 2 “Significant Accounting policies”.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value 

measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

27.	 Capital	adequacy	and	capital	management

Capital adequacy

The Group is required to comply with Capital Adequacy Regulation for Islamic banks issued by CBK as stipulated 

in CBK circular no. 2/RBA/44/2009 dated 15 June 2009 as amended.

The Group’s regulatory capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December 2013 was 25.24% based on the following 

capital structure and risk-weighted assets:
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Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that the Group complies with externally 
imposed capital requirements and that the Group maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order 
to support its business and to maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions 
and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 
adjust the amount of dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue capital securities. 
No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes from the previous years in this respect.
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